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1  Maoming Single Point Mooring
 • Handles crude oil imports for the Sinopec refinery at   
  Maoming (Guangdong Province), the major JV partner 

 • Replacement buoy installed in April 2005 for more 
  efficient operation

2  Bluesky Aviation Refuelling
 • JV with BP and CAOSC of Beijing

 • Has supplied jet fuel to 15 airports in central and southern   
  China since 1998, including the new Guangzhou Baiyun   
  International Airport

 • Will supply jet fuel to the new Federal Express Asia hub at   
  Guangzhou from 2008            
 • Volume sales increased 19 per cent in 2005

3  West Zhuhai Products Terminal
 • Distributes diesel and gasoline in Guangdong primarily for   
  PetroChina, the major JV partner

 • Recent agreement to purchase Vitol’s interests in the   
  terminal, subject to shareholder approval

4  Other Terminals
 • Include the Fu Duo LPG terminal and distribution business   
  at Zhanjiang and terminal assets at Shantou (Guangdong   
  Province)

5  Fortune Gas
 •  Investment vehicle for natural gas business

 •  Majority ownership in nine gas companies which operate   
  city reticulation systems, CNG and LNG supply and spur   
  pipelines in north China

6  Fu Hua Natural Gas
 • JV between Fortune Gas and a PetroChina affiliate since   
  2003 for supply of gas from the Shaanxi-Beijing pipelines       
 • The Tongzhou facility commenced operation as one of the   
  largest CNG stations in Beijing

7  Trading and Supply
 • Trading of deregulated refined products on a low risk basis       

 • Cross-border trading increasing in 2006/2007 as the China   
  markets open under WTO   
 • Gasoline retail stations in Beijing since 1997

8  Coal Bed Methane (CBM)
 • Agreement in March 2006 to take control of the PSC   
  foreign contractor rights for the Liulin Coal Bed Methane   
  Block, Shanxi Province

 • Potential integration synergies with the gas distribution   
  business in addition to upstream returns

Fortune Oil Project Portfolio
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Fortune Oil PLC is listed in London with its operational 

headquarters in Hong Kong. The Company focuses on 

oil and gas supply and infrastructure projects in China. 

Company shares are held by the public (45.66 per cent), 

First Level Holdings Limited (39.09 per cent), Vitol (8.85 

per cent) and major Chinese state-owned corporations 

(6.40 per cent).

company profile 
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Introduction

In 2005 China maintained its position on the centre 

stage of the world’s economy: China’s GDP overtook 

that of France, Chinese companies began to make large 

overseas acquisitions and the Renminbi–US dollar peg 

was relaxed. China now has the second largest energy 

industry in the world after USA. Fortune Oil remains 

almost unique as an international company operating both 

oil and gas infrastructure ventures in China.

Results

China’s demand for oil and gas continues to grow 

strongly. The Bluesky business continued to show strong 

volume growth in 2005 and posted a 68 per cent rise 

in net profit. The gas business made an operating profit 

on the back of a 42 per cent increase in sales volume. 

Pricing and supply-demand tensions resulted in temporary 

supply disruptions in both the oil and gas sectors, but 

there was an increase in overall sales for the year. The 

Group’s revenues (including share of joint ventures) were 

£143 million, a 21 per cent increase over 2004. The profit 

attributable to equity shareholders after exceptionals was 

£2.8 million compared with £2.6 million in 2004 but, after 

discounting the impact of exceptional items in both years, 

net profits almost doubled. 

These results are the first produced by the Company 

under International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). The Company continues to meet the changing 

reporting guidelines and to provide more information 

to shareholders and we have introduced an Operating 

and Financial Review in this year’s Annual Report. We 

have also made strides in improving our compliance with 

corporate governance recommendations, as detailed in 

the Directors Report.

 

chairman’s statement

In 2006 we are investing 
for future growth in our 
core terminals and gas 
distribution ventures 
and our new coal bed 
methane business. 
Security of supply is 
becoming increasingly 
important for China.
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gas business. Fortune Oil is uniquely positioned through 

its PRC connections and joint venture partners to bring 

to bear the necessary experience to develop a CBM 

business in Shanxi Province. We believe that, as both 

the oil and gas markets open further in China, these new 

investments are well-timed to provide future growth.

Outlook

Last year the Company’s performance improved in spite 

of various supply disruptions. In 2006 we are investing for 

future growth in our core terminals and gas distribution 

ventures and our new coal bed methane business. 

Security of energy supply is becoming increasingly 

important for China as it endeavours to sustain the rapid 

economic growth. Since China is a net importer of energy, 

domestic prices for both gas and transportation fuels will 

eventually have to increase towards international levels. 

We believe that the private sector will be encouraged 

to expand, albeit with appropriate regulation. With our 

developing portfolio of investments and our unique market 

position, these changes will be positive for the Company 

and we remain confident of sustained growth.

Qian Benyuan

Chairman

12 May 2006

chairman’s statement

Directors

In 2005 we were pleased to strengthen the Board through 

the appointment of Mr John Pexton and Mr Gong Min 

as Executive Directors. Mr Bruce McGowan has recently 

retired from the Board after six years of devoted service 

but we are pleased that he will remain as a consultant to 

the Company. Our long-standing Non-executive Directors, 

Mr Li De, Mr Feng Xuechang and Mr Yang Chunshu will 

also be retiring at the forthcoming AGM and we would like 

to thank them all for their invaluable contributions over 

the years.

Recent Developments

In recent months there have been two major 

developments for the Group. Firstly we have agreed, 

subject to shareholder approval, to acquire the interests 

held by Vitol in the West Zhuhai Terminal, which also 

required us to purchase the interests held by Vitol in Fu 

Duo. The terminal at West Zhuhai is one of the largest 

independent distribution facilities for refined products in 

southern China and a unique asset for future growth.

Secondly, we have committed to invest in the 

development of coal bed methane (CBM) in Shanxi 

Province. China has vast untapped reserves of CBM in its 

coal fields and its extraction is critical for the community, 

not only as an energy resource but to reduce long term 

global warming and coal mine accidents. It is also an 

exciting opportunity for us to combine CBM with our 

existing gas operations to create an integrated natural 
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Overview

In 2005 revenues including the Group’s share of joint 

ventures were £143 million, a 21 per cent increase 

over 2004 (£118 million). The profit attributable to 

equity shareholders increased to £2.8 million from 

£2.6 million in 2004. The underlying retained profit rose 

by 87 per cent from £1.8 million to £3.4 million before 

the exceptional credits in 2004 for creditor write-backs 

and the exceptional debits in 2005 for the disposal of the 

first buoy at Maoming SPM. Over the last three years, the 

underlying retained profit (i.e. profit after tax and before 

exceptionals) has increased 48 per cent per year on 

average, exceeding our target growth of 15 per cent 

per year. 

Earnings per share were 0.16 pence in 2005, marginally 

lower than the 0.17 pence for 2004, principally as a result 

of the full impact of the conversion of shareholder loans to 

shares at the end of 2004. Net assets increased by 19 per 

cent to £50.7 million principally as a result of continued 

profits and exchange gains arising in the year.

The Bluesky Aviation Refuelling business achieved a 

68 per cent increase in net profit, due to higher sales 

volumes and higher margin. However net profit for the 

Maoming SPM fell 26 per cent, due to a temporary 

cutback at Sinopec’s Maoming refinery in the second half 

of the year and an exceptional loss on disposal of the first 

buoy. The natural gas business achieved a small operating 

profit in 2005 during which we successfully commissioned 

one of the largest compressed natural gas stations 

in Beijing. 

China Review

Last year was a transition period for China’s energy 

industry, in contrast to the surging growth experienced 

in 2004. In the oil sector the high disparity between 

domestic and international prices for refined products 

led to losses for oil refining companies and temporary 

disruptions in product supply. In the gas sector 

inadequate supplies forced us to supply LPG instead 

of natural gas to some customers in early 2005, and 

the consequential losses partially offset the later profits 

from the Tongzhou CNG station. These problems are not 

expected to recur this year.

However, overall energy demand in China is continuing 

its rapid growth and GDP has grown 10 per cent per year 

since 2003. This GDP growth leads to greater demand 

for travel as well as power, hence the 19 per cent rise 

in jet fuel sales at Bluesky in 2005. The combination of 

higher energy prices, surging demand and pressures (both 

internal and international) to liberalise markets create a 

dynamic environment. Government policies are aimed at 

maintaining the sustainability of China’s overall economic 

growth: while individual sectors may have temporary 

supply disruptions or pricing problems the overall trend 

remains strongly upward.

Operations

The Bluesky aviation refuelling business (South China 

Bluesky Aviation Oil Company) continued its strong growth 

in volume sales and profit in 2005. Volume sales rose 

20 per cent to 1.3 million tonnes, of which approximately 

50 per cent related to the new Guangzhou Baiyun 

International Airport. Net profit increased by 

68 per cent to £9.6 million (US$17.4 million) from 

£5.7 million (US$10.5 million) in 2004, due to the 

higher volume sales and a higher operating margin. As 

the growth in demand has exceeded all expectations, 

investments in new refuelling facilities are now being 

planned for the major airports (Guangzhou, Changsha, 

Wuhan and Zhengzhou). In particular, in 2005 Federal 

Express announced the relocation of their Asia hub to 

Guangzhou and Bluesky will provide jet fuel to this new 

terminal from 2008. Bluesky continues to be a monopoly 

supplier at its airport locations but tariffs are subject 

to government regulation. From April 2006 the tariff for 

domestic flights is being decreased at Guangzhou and 

chief executive’s review
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increased at the regional airports, and the operating 

margin will also be affected by the need to import some 

jet fuel.

At the Maoming SPM (Maoming King Ming Petroleum, 

or MKM joint venture), a replacement mooring buoy 

was successfully commissioned in April 2005 and has 

improved the efficiency of operation. However in late 

2005 the losses being incurred by Chinese refiners as a 

result of government pricing policies caused Sinopec to 

reduce imports of crude oil at Maoming. As a result the 

total throughput for MKM fell 6 per cent in 2005 to 

9.7 million tonnes. Net profit decreased by 26 per cent 

to £4.2 million (US$7.6 million) from £5.7 million 

(US$10.4 million) in 2004. This was due to the lower 

throughput and to a once-off loss on disposal of the 

old buoy of £0.6 million (US$1.1 million). Following 

agreements with the government, the Maoming refinery is 

now operating at full capacity. MKM is also now modifying 

the SPM facilities to handle the new class of 300,000 dwt 

double-hulled tankers, thereby raising the SPM capacity 

beyond 12 million tonnes per year.

The West Zhuhai Terminal joint venture was also 

affected by supply disruptions in 2005, but there was still 

a marginal increase in throughput and trans-shipment 

volumes to 2.2 million tonnes. Net profit was £1.9 million 

(US$3.5 million). PetroChina maintains a 45 per cent 

share in the terminal and is the principal customer for 

distribution of diesel and gasoline. However, we envisage 

that third party usage will expand as the west side of the 

Pearl River develops and WTO regulations allow non-

state companies to import products. For that reason we 

recently agreed to acquire Vitol’s interests in the terminal 

which, subject to shareholder approval, will increase our 

shareholding to 37 per cent. As part of this acquisition we 

also agreed to purchase the Vitol Group’s interests in the 

Fu Duo LPG subsidiary, which remains at best a break-

even business.
 

Our independent Trading business enabled us to 

guarantee supplies of gasoline and diesel to our Beijing 

retail stations in 2005, in contrast to many other private 

retailers. While the domestic trading activities continue to 

be low margin, we are now increasing our customer base 

and low-risk cross-border trading of deregulated refined 

products, so as to prepare for further market liberalisation 

over the coming year.

The Natural Gas business increased gas sales by 42 per 

cent to 34 million cubic metres (m3) and made a small 

operating profit in 2005, its second year of business. The 

Tongzhou Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) station was 

successfully commissioned by Fu Hua, our joint venture 

with a PetroChina affiliate (80 per cent Fortune Oil share). 

This is now one of the largest suppliers of CNG in Beijing 

to bus companies, factories and city gas companies. 

The gas sales from Tongzhou in the first quarter of 2006 

totalled 13 million m3, the same as Fu Hua’s total sales in 

Beijing for 2005, which indicates a considerably improving 

performance for our gas business.

The Company’s city gas companies now have 71,600 

customers, most being recently constructed residential 

apartments, and we now operate 468 km of gas 

pipelines. The China gas business is still at an early 

stage of development with low penetration rates, such 

that our existing infrastructure has substantial growth 

opportunities. For example we recently agreed to supply 

gas to industrial and residential suburbs at Tianjin in 

conjunction with Tianjin Gas Company, which will exploit 

spare capacity in our Tianhui spur pipeline. 
 

The gas shortages we experienced in early 2005 were not 

repeated in the recent winter and the new Shaanxi-Beijing 

pipelines have sufficient capacity to meet many years 

of demand increases in the Beijing region. However, the 

Company needs to ensure independent reliable sources of 

supply for its future gas businesses. This was the principal 

reason for our decision to seek investments in CBM 

development, as described below.

chief executive’s review
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Our Community

Fortune Oil has managed oil and gas facilities in China for 

over 13 years. We have a proven track record of reliable 

and safe operation, with no fatalities in any of our invested 

businesses. These operations now employ 1200 staff, 

of whom 99 per cent are PRC citizens, and they are key 

businesses in their respective communities. We are proud 

of our role in introducing cleaner fuels and new standards 

in China.

The Company’s HSE targets include minimising accidental 

release of hydrocarbons from all our operating companies 

to the environment. We are particularly concerned about 

any release of methane, which is a greenhouse gas, 

and no measurable releases were reported for 2005. 

The Group’s operations conduct regular safety training 

seminars for the staff and for the community and there 

were 6 Lost Time Injuries in all the Group’s operations 

in 2005.

Post Balance Sheet Events

In February 2006 the Company announced its intention 

to acquire the combined interests held by the Vitol Group 

in the West Zhuhai terminal and Fu Duo LPG business, 

subject to shareholder approval at the Extraordinary 

General Meeting to be held on 21 June 2006. The agreed 

total consideration is £3.3 million (US$5.7 million) for the 

Company to increase its effective shareholding in the West 

Zhuhai terminal from 18.5 per cent to 37 per cent and in 

Fu Duo from 57.5 per cent to 80 per cent and to repay 

loans from Vitol in respect of these assets. The principal 

impact will be that the Company has a more influential 

role in the operations of the West Zhuhai terminal, one 

of the largest facilities for import and distribution of 

transportation fuels in Guangdong Province.

In April 2006 the Company announced a conditional 

agreement to develop CBM gas reserves in the Liulin 

block in Shanxi Province, through forming a joint-venture 

with Molopo Australia Limited (“Molopo”). Molopo is an 

Australian listed company with CBM fields in Australia and 

first signed a production sharing contract (“PSC”) 

for the Liulin block in 1999. The Company and Molopo 

have agreed that, subject to government approvals, the 

foreign contractor rights in the PSC will be transferred 

by Molopo to Fortune Liulin Gas Company Limited, a 

Hong Kong registered subsidiary of Fortune Oil, and the 

exploration phase will be extended to 2008. Fortune Oil 

will commit US$2.5 million for further appraisal of this 

CBM block over the next 18 months and will be entitled to 

60 per cent shareholding in the company. The government 

party to the PSC, CUCBM, has now approved the 

transaction and we are awaiting approval from the Ministry 

of Commerce. We expect commercial development of the 

block to commence after two years, assuming that the 

appraisal program is successful.

This is the Company’s first step into the upstream gas 

business. China has one of the world’s largest reserves 

of CBM. The Liulin block is one of the best geologically 

assessed CBM blocks in China, with an estimated in-

place gas resource of 0.8 trillion cubic feet (23 billion 

cubic metres) in an area of 200 square kilometres, based 

on data from test wells drilled over the past 10 years 

by Molopo and government agencies. Molopo’s CBM 

development expertise partnered with Fortune Oil’s in-

China project management expertise and gas marketing 

capability are a powerful combination.

We expect the initial investments at Liulin and the 

acquisition of Vitol’s interests to be funded from current 

available funds.

Future Development

We remain very optimistic concerning the prospects of our 

natural gas business, which we regard as our engine of 

growth. In 2005 we appreciated the need to ensure long-

term security of supply and for this reason we have been 

more cautious compared to some other gas companies 

in building our portfolio, preferring to ensure sustainability. 

Our entry into coal bed methane development is aimed 

at both creating an integrated gas business with more 

reliable supply and tapping into the vast potential of CBM 

in China.

chief executive’s review
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chief executive’s review

The Company continues to exploit windows of opportunity 

as they open in the China oil and gas and infrastructure 

markets. The Maoming SPM and West Zhuhai terminal are 

unique investments for a foreign company in China and 

we will continue to build upon these positions. Volume 

sales at Bluesky continue to grow strongly, particularly 

from the rapid expansion of the new Guangzhou 

airport. Given the surge in demand for transportation 

and terminals, particularly in north and east China, the 

Company continues to assess opportunities for new port 

projects in these regions. We are proud of our reputation 

and experience as one of the first foreign companies to 

invest in terminals in China and we plan to profit further 

from these strengths.

Li Ching

Chief Executive

12 May 2006
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OUR COMPANY

Fortune Oil PLC focuses on oil and gas supply and 

infrastructure projects in China. We have over a decade 

of investing and operating experience in China with safe 

and reliable supply of fuels to major Chinese businesses. 

The Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange but 

the headquarters is in Hong Kong for management of our 

China operations.

China is now the world’s second largest energy market 

and the recent growth in energy demand is unparalleled 

in history. Fortune Oil seeks to exploit opportunities in 

the oil and gas and infrastructure sectors as the market 

opens, predominantly in partnership with major Chinese 

companies. Our portfolio to date includes the following 

investments:

• A Single Point Mooring (SPM) facility for delivering 

crude oil to one of Sinopec’s largest refineries, at 

Maoming in Guangdong Province.

• The Bluesky aviation refuelling joint venture with BP 

and CAO Supply Corporation, which supplies jet fuel 

to 15 airports in central and southern China.

• A refined products supply business which includes 

joint venture shareholdings in import and distribution 

terminals, including a major diesel and gasoline 

terminal at West Zhuhai.

• A natural gas supply business which controls 

pipelines, reticulation systems and CNG facilities in 

north China, with 71,600 customers for natural gas as 

at the end of 2005.

• An investment in a business to develop coal bed 

methane (CBM) reserves at Liulin in Shanxi Province 

for production of natural gas, subject to government 

approvals which we expect to receive by June 2006. 

This Operating and Financial Review has been prepared 

in accordance with the latest recommendations of the 

Accounting Standards Board, as appropriate for the 

operating environment in China and the size of our 

Company. The information is intended for the Company’s 

shareholders and should not be relied on by any other 

party or for any other purpose. The reviews contain 

certain forward-looking statements made in good faith by 

the Directors based on the information available to them 

at the time of this report’s approval. 

Key Performance Indicators

The Company seeks to expand the above businesses 

through growth in sales volume and to identify other 

investment opportunities with sustainable long-term profit, 

particularly in the natural gas sector. The Board considers 

the following objectives to be key performance indicators:

• To achieve a growth in net profit of above 15 per cent 

per annum over the long term, as measured by profit 

after tax and before exceptional items;

• To increase the volume sales of natural gas by over 30 

per cent per year;

• To minimise the accidental release of hydrocarbons 

from all our operating companies to the environment; 

and

• To ensure safe operation for our personnel as 

measured by Lost Time Injuries.

Over the past three years the Company has on average 

exceeded the target increases in profit and gas sales. 

Internal systems are being developed to enable more 

effective measurement of HSE performance.

operating and financial review
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CHINA REVIEW

Energy Demand

China’s GDP grew by 9.9 per cent in 2005, similar to the 

10.1 per cent revised GDP growth reported for 2004, 

and its economy is now as large as that of the UK. 

Demand for energy continues to grow strongly with total 

power production increasing 14 per cent again in 2005, 

according to the National Bureau of Statistics. However 

China’s demand for crude oil grew by only 3 per cent to 

300 million tonnes in 2005, compared to a 15 per cent 

increase in the previous year. Imports of crude oil rose by 

3.5 per cent in 2005 while there was a decrease in the 

import of refined products. The demand for petroleum 

fuels was dampened by inventory build-up in previous 

years, high oil prices and government pricing policies. By 

contrast the natural gas sector continues to show a rapid 

growth with supply and infrastructure being the major 

constraint: gas demand increased by more than 20 per 

cent in 2005 to 50 billion cubic metres (bcm).

We expect China’s demand for crude oil to resume its 

strong upward trend, particularly as the government 

endeavours to introduce more market-based pricing and 

China’s economy continues to expand. In the first quarter 

of 2006 the apparent demand for crude oil had a year-

on-year growth of 10 per cent while crude oil imports 

increased by 25 per cent. Demand for gas continues to 

surge given the fuel’s convenience and low environmental 

impact. However the recent rises in international LNG 

prices have delayed agreements on new import terminals 

beyond the two already under construction, in Guangdong 

(starting up in 2006) and Fujian (starting up in 2008/2009). 

Gas currently represents only 2.5 per cent of China’s 

energy mix and the government had planned for this to 

double by 2010.

Coal will continue to be the major source of energy for 

China because of the low cost and the country’s abundant 

reserves. Steps are being taken to limit environmental 

damage caused by the coal industry and to increase 

safety, particularly by encouraging extraction of gas from 

coal seams as CBM.

Market Regulation

The petroleum sector in China continues to be dominated 

by the state-controlled domestic oil companies and the 

pricing of many refined products is set by the government 

through the NDRC (National Development and Reform 

Commission). In order to mitigate the effect of high oil 

prices on the economy and the rural population, the 

government has set the domestic prices for diesel, 

gasoline and kerosene/jet fuel at a significant discount to 

international prices. The result has been that domestic oil 

refiners incurred losses in 2005 at a time when refiners 

outside China achieved record profits, and there were 

shortages of refined products at retail stations. The 

government has a stated intention to bring domestic 

prices in line with international prices and to subsidise 

certain users; a first step to financing this subsidy has 

been a windfall tax on any domestic crude oil priced 

above US$40 per barrel, imposed from April 2006.

Cross-border trading of certain refined products such as 

LPG and fuel oil are now deregulated and these markets 

are highly competitive. However cross-border trade of 

the key transportation fuels (gasoline, diesel and jet fuel) 

is controlled by the state oil companies. Under the WTO 

agreement there should be liberalisation of the wholesale 

market from 2007 and foreign companies should be 

allowed to import these products. 

In the natural gas sector, the prices at the well-head for 

petroleum gas fields and along the trunk pipelines are 

set by the NDRC, and the state oil companies remain the 

major investors in these operations. However for local gas 

distribution there is only limited central government control 

and few restrictions on private or foreign investment. 

While local authorities generally set a limit on residential 

gas price based on affordability or the price of competing 

fuels (normally LPG), prices in the distribution chain are 

generally set by commercial negotiation. In late 2005 the 

NDRC initiated a 10 to 20 per cent increase in domestic 

gas prices but substantially higher rises are necessary 

before gas prices in China reach international levels.

operating and financial review
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operating and financial review

A significant percentage of China’s methane gas 

reserves is to be found in coal seams as CBM rather 

than conventional natural gas. The government body 

responsible for CBM, CUCBM, estimates that there 

are over 30,000 bcm of natural gas trapped in the coal 

reserves, with the largest basins in Shanxi province. 

This methane gas can cause explosions in coal mines 

or escape to the atmosphere, with a potential impact on 

global warming as methane is a greenhouse gas. CUCBM 

has entered into production sharing contracts (PSCs) with 

foreign companies to develop some of these reserves. 

Under these PSCs there is no restriction on well-head 

price or destination of the gas so that CBM should

become a source of natural gas that is independent of the 

state oil companies.

Oil Sector Dynamics

Fortune Oil’s investments in the oil sector are primarily 

in infrastructure facilities for import and supply. The 

Company’s revenue is derived from the tariff charged per 

tonne of delivered hydrocarbon (crude oil at the Maoming 

SPM, diesel and gasoline at West Zhuhai, jet fuel at 

Bluesky). The income is therefore dependent on this tariff 

and the volume delivered, rather than the price of the 

hydrocarbon. The Company does not take title to the oil 

or refined products in these infrastructure operations, 

except at Bluesky, which consequently has some exposure 

to pricing risk.

The major international oil companies have not yet 

made significant investments in the onshore oil markets, 

except for the recent development of joint ventures in 

retail stations. Fortune Oil remains the only international 

company with a majority position in a crude oil import 

terminal (Maoming SPM) and one of the few companies 

with investments in a diesel/gasoline distribution terminal 

(at West Zhuhai). As the market liberalises we anticipate 

more imports of diesel to meet the needs of independent 

retailers, particularly through the West Zhuhai Terminal.

Gas Sector Dynamics

The natural gas sector in China is at an early stage of 

development. Only over the past five years have pan-

provincial trunk pipelines been constructed from the 

western gas fields to the eastern cities, principally the 

Shaanxi-Beijing pipelines and the West-East Pipeline. 

Construction of a regional pipeline network has only just 

begun and reticulation systems in most cities, if they 

exist at all, extend only to new developments. Given 

the considerable opportunities in this sector a number 

of private sector companies have acquired controlling 

interests in gas distribution companies.

Fortune Oil’s portfolio includes control of spur pipelines, 

the production and distribution of compressed natural gas 

(CNG) and reticulation systems in cities for distribution 

to houses, businesses and factories. In each case we 

take title to the natural gas; spur pipelines generate tariff 

revenue while CNG is sold at a negotiated price.

Our city gas supply businesses generally have exclusive 

rights for gas supply. They own and operate the city 

network, with a connection fee being paid by new users 

so as to finance further development. Therefore volume 

sales are limited by the number of connections and user 

demand rather than competition. The principal risk is 

availability of adequate gas supply. The company has 

mitigated this risk in our principal PRC gas company (Fu 

Hua) by joint venturing with a PetroChina affiliate which is 

involved in operating the Shaanxi-Beijing pipelines. 
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operating and financial review

international jet fuel prices plus a negotiated margin. Sales 

for domestic flights are priced at domestic jet fuel prices 

plus a tariff set by the China Aviation Authority, and from 

April 2006 the tariff at Guangzhou will be decreased while 

that for the smaller regional airports will be increased.

Under the current system Bluesky is at risk to certain 

pricing disparities between domestic and international 

prices. In 2006 we anticipate that the operating margin 

will be affected by the need to import jet fuel for domestic 

flights, as international prices are higher than  domestic 

prices. We expect sales volumes to continue growing in 

2006 but we do not anticipate sustaining the net profit 

achieved in 2005. In the medium-long term we anticipate 

steady growth in both volume and profits, particularly 

from 2008 when the Federal Express terminal commences 

operations at Guangzhou, as international and domestic 

prices converge and the proportion of international flights 

increases.

Maoming King Ming Petroleum Company  

(Maoming SPM)

The Company holds a controlling 56 per cent interest 

in the Single Point Mooring (SPM) facility which delivers 

crude oil to the Sinopec refinery at Maoming. Throughput 

was 9.7 million tonnes in 2005, compared to 10.3 million 

tonnes in 2004: 41 tankers were safely discharged at the 

SPM (46 in 2004). In 2005 a replacement SPM buoy was 

installed which is better designed for the sea conditions 

OIL SECTOR OPERATIONS

South China Bluesky Aviation Oil Company

The Company holds a 24.5 per cent shareholding in the 

Bluesky joint venture, which provides aviation refuelling 

services at 15 airports in central and southern China. 

The other partners are BP (24.5 per cent) and China 

Aviation Oil Supply Corporation (CAOSC, 51 per cent). 

Performance in 2005 was excellent with sales volumes 

to airlines increasing 20 per cent to 1.3 million tonnes, 

compared with 1.08 million tonnes in 2004. Most of this 

growth was at the new Guangzhou Baiyun International 

Airport. Higher volume sales and jet fuel prices resulted 

in Bluesky’s turnover in 2005 increasing 35 per cent to 

£379 million (US$690 million) from £281 million in 2004.

Net profit in 2005 rose 68 per cent to £9.6 million 

(US$17.4 million) from £5.7 million (US$10.5 million) in 

2004. The incremental profit was due to a higher average 

sales margin as well as higher volume sales. The margin 

for supply of jet fuel depends on the origin of the jet fuel 

and customer type. Sales to international airlines have 

higher margins and in 2005 the proportion of sales for 

international flights doubled to 11 per cent.

To meet the rising demand Bluesky has initiated a major 

investment programme to expand its supply and storage 

capacity and to provide new hydrant facilities for the 

airports as new aircraft aprons are added. The addition 

of new hydrant sites at Zhengzhou and Wuhan airports 

will be completed in 2006 for a cost of RMB 20 million 

(US$2.5m). Plans are already advanced for the staged 

expansion of the Guangzhou airport facilities (to add new 

pipelines, tanks and hydrants), the new Federal Express 

terminal at Guangzhou and expansion of the Changsha 

airport facilities. These will require approximately 

RMB 260 million (US$33 million) of investment over the 

coming three years and will be financed from Bluesky 

cashflow and local bank borrowings by Bluesky. 

Bluesky owns and operates the entire refueling 

infrastructure and has no competition in the airports 

it services. Sales for international flights are priced at 
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near Maoming and should result in overall efficiency gains 

and lower maintenance costs. 

 

Profit after tax was £4.2 million (US$7.6 million) compared 

with £5.7 million (US$10.4 million) in 2004. The reduced 

profit in 2005 was due to a combination of a once-off loss 

in disposal of the old buoy of £0.6 million (US$1.1million), 

down-time for installation of the new buoy and the Maoming 

refinery curtailing its operations in late 2005 because of 

heavy losses in the refining sector. Following agreement 

with and some rebate from the government, the refinery is 

now back at full capacity.

The capacity of the SPM is limited by the discharge 

rate, the scheduling of vessel arrivals, the sea conditions 

and the size of tanker. Currently MKM has permits for 

discharge from Very Large Crude Carriers (VLCCs) of up 

to 250,000 dwt. MKM has recently obtained approval from 

local authorities to increase this limit to 300,000 dwt, such 

that it will be able to handle the new class of double-hulled 

tankers, subject to certain modifications which we expect 

to be completed by June 2006. This should increase the 

practical limit of the SPM to beyond 12 million tonnes per 

year. The Maoming SPM remains the only offshore facility 

in China for importing crude oil and no crude oil facility in 

China can handle tankers larger than 300,000 dwt.

South China Petroleum Company  

(West Zhuhai Terminal)

The Company currently has an 18.5 per cent interest 

in a refined products terminal at West Zhuhai. In 2005 

the total throughput was 2.2 million tonnes, including 

trans-shipment. Net profit for the joint venture was 

£1.9 million (US$ 3.5 million), compared with £2.2 million 

(US$4.0 million) in 2004.

The largest shareholder in the joint venture and the 

principal customer is PetroChina. The jetty at the West 

Zhuhai terminal can handle larger products tankers 

(80,000 dwt) than any other terminal in Guangdong 

Province. PetroChina has committed to utilise the facility 

for distribution of diesel and gasoline in Guangdong, but 

will also allow third party access, particularly as the diesel 

import market is gradually liberalised under WTO. The 

terminal management also continue to assess potential 

expansion of the terminal for other products, such as 

petrochemicals intermediates. There is considerable new 

investment already taking place on the west side of the 

Pearl River Delta, for example in new chemicals facilities.

We anticipate substantial long term growth for the facility 

as an independent terminal with one of the largest jetties in 

southern China. For this reason the Company has agreed, 

subject to shareholder approval, to acquire the interests 

held by the Vitol Group in the terminal so as to increase 

our shareholding to 37 per cent.

operating and financial review
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NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS

The Company’s investments in natural gas are through 

Fortune Gas Development (“Fortune Gas”, a 100 per 

cent owned Hong Kong subsidiary), and Beijing Fortune 

Huiyuan Gas Company Limited (“Fu Hua”, a PRC company 

which is owned 80 per cent by Fortune Gas). Fu Hua’s 

joint venture partner is a PetroChina affiliate involved in 

the operation of the Shaanxi-Beijing (“Shaanjing”) trunk 

pipelines, which are the source of most gas for Fu Hua’s 

business. In Shanxi Province these investments include 

control of the Shuozhou city gas reticulation system and 

the Pinglu and Jinshatan spur pipelines. Near Beijing we 

produce compressed natural gas (CNG) at our new 

Tongzhou station and own a fleet of trucks for distributing 

the CNG, for example to the city gas company we acquired 

at Huairou. We also operate spur pipelines near Tianjin 

and Luquan (Hebei) and control the city gas companies at 

Qufu (Shandong).

Total gas sales were 34 million cubic metres (m3) in 2005, an 

increase of 42 per cent compared to 2004 (24 million m3). 

The Company exceeded its performance target of a 30 

per cent annual increase in gas sales from 2004.

Gas sales included 13 million m3 CNG in Beijing, 8 million m3 

piped gas in Shuozhou and 7 million m3 piped gas in Huairou. 

Total revenue was £5.7 million (US$10.4 million), of which 

30 per cent was connection fee income, principally in 

Shuozhou and Huairou. The business generated a small 

operating profit of £137,000 (US$ 249,000). 

sales, million cubic metres

Natural Gas
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Zhanjiang Fu Duo Gas Company

The Company has a 57.5 per cent interest in the Fu Duo 

LPG business, comprising an LPG import terminal at 

Zhanjiang, wholesale and retail businesses. The LPG 

business is difficult in south Guangdong because of 

over-supply and Fu Duo made a small loss in 2005, with 

sales volumes reducing 36 per cent to 36,000 tonnes. We 

had previously established a marketing alliance with the 

Sinopec Maoming refinery in order to guarantee a minimum 

income for 2005. As of 1 January 2006 we have instead 

contracted out the entire Fu Duo operation for an annual 

income of RMB1.2 million (£93,000, US$170,000). The 

Company has agreed, subject to shareholder approval, to 

acquire the 22.5 per cent interest in the Fu Duo business 

currently held by Vitol, as part of the agreement to acquire 

Vitol’s interests in the West Zhuhai terminal. However the 

Fu Duo business is no longer material for the Group’s 

operations.

Trading

Our trading business includes the trading of oil products 

(principally domestic, on a back-to-back basis), our interest 

in two gasoline retail stations in Beijing and rental income 

from terminal assets at Shantou in Guangdong Province. 

Total turnover was £20.5 million (US$37.2 million) but, apart 

from the gasoline stations, the business remains break-

even given the very thin margins available in back-to-back 

transactions.
   

We anticipate that the trading environment will improve 

as the wholesale and cross-border markets gradually 

open under WTO in the coming year. The Company is 

well placed because of our unique investments in terminal 

facilities and experience in the domestic markets. In 

2006/2007 we anticipate increasing our customer base 

and importing certain deregulated products on a low-

risk agency basis so as to prepare for further market 

liberalisation while minimising our trading exposure.

operating and financial review
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operating and financial review

Security of supply is the principal risk for natural gas 

distribution in China. Most gas demand is still for heating 

and cooking, which peaks in winter, at the same time 

as overall demand is increasing over 20 per cent per 

year. In the 2004/2005 winter the Company honoured its 

obligations to supply customers by providing expensive 

piped LPG when natural gas supplies were curtailed, with 

consequent losses. These problems did not recur in the 

recent winter due to the completion of the second Beijing-

Shaanxi pipeline (“Shaanjing II”). 

We anticipate significant volume growth in 2006, particularly 

because of the Tongzhou CNG station: sales from the 

station in the first quarter were already 13 million m3. Growth 

will also come from leveraging spare capacity in our pipelines, 

for example through our Tianhui spur to Tianjin, where we 

recently agreed to supply an industrial and a residential 

suburb in conjunction with Tianjin Gas Company.

Over time we expect the natural gas industry to become 

more regulated, principally in relation to safety and pricing 

to residential customers. However Fortune Oil is targeting 

investments in early-stage gas companies with favourable 

margins and negotiated pricing. In these businesses we 

do not expect connection fees to fall, particularly as local 

communities are anxious for city gas companies to extend 

the networks.

Total investment by the Group in the natural gas business 

to date has been £12.5 million (US$21.5 million). As 

at the end of the year we operated 468 km of gas 

pipelines and a fleet of CNG delivery trucks for sales to 

large consumers; we had 71,446 contracted household 

customers and 197 contracted commercial and factory 

users. While modest in size at present our gas business is 

now firmly established with significant capacity for future 

sales growth. The supply infrastructure will continue to 

limit the availability of natural gas but Fortune Oil has now 

developed experience in delivering gas to end-users by all 

practicable means, whether as pipeline gas, CNG or LNG. 
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Our Community

The Company’s operations are solely in the People’s 

Republic of China (“PRC”). We ensure that the Company’s 

operations are in compliance with national and local 

laws and practices. Our ongoing success relies on the 

maintenance of excellent relationships in our communities, 

particularly with our local joint venture partners and 

regulatory authorities. 

Fortune Oil has managed oil and gas facilities in China for 

over 13 years and has a proven track record of safe and 

reliable operation. We remain one of the few international 

companies with both oil and gas operations onshore 

China and we have been at the forefront of introducing 

new approaches, such as the SPM concept. Many of 

our businesses are among the largest foreign-invested 

enterprises in that area and they provide a benchmark 

for other local companies. Our oil and gas supply 

businesses provide energy for the development of the 

local communities and we are proud to have played a role 

in introducing cleaner fuels and new standards in China.

All senior management of the Company are required to 

familiarise themselves with the Company’s code of ethics 

in relation to areas such as supervisory rules, insider 

dealing, market malpractices, conflicts of interest, proper 

use of the Company’s assets and reporting requirements 

for listed companies. 

Our Employees

The Group’s oil and gas operations employed 1200 

staff as at the end of 2005 of whom 58 per cent were 

in joint venture companies and 99 per cent of whom 

are PRC citizens. The Company operates a policy of no 

discrimination in its selection of staff, whether on grounds 

of age, race, religion or gender, with selection only subject 

to satisfying the operational requirements in China. 

Fortune Oil is one of the few UK public companies whose 

CEO and Finance Director are both female.

The Group companies comply with all regulations 

concerning employees such as the funding of local trades 

unions and community activities. Our operating companies 

follow the PRC regulations on mandatory employment of 

disabled people.

Health and Safety

As a shareholder and operator we are very concerned 

about the safety of our staff and our community. We have 

a policy to maintain safe and healthy working conditions, 

to maintain safe plant and equipment and to provide 

appropriate training and operating procedures. We seek 

to introduce international practices for safety management 

and we encourage reporting of all accidents so that others 

may learn from the experience. The PRC government itself 

continues to upgrade the construction and performance 

standards expected in the energy industry, particularly 

as some industries such as LNG distribution are new 

to China. 

As the largest employer in the Group’s operations, 

Bluesky has a sophisticated training and reporting system 

for each of its airport operations. The LPG and natural gas 

retail operations also each have a safety officer and they 

regularly conduct safety and fire prevention training for the 

staff and the local community. Across the entire Group’s 

operations in 2005, there were 503 safety seminars and 

emergency exercises for staff and 93 safety seminars for 

the public.

There were 6 Lost Time Injuries (LTIs) in all the Group’s 

operations in 2005: the injury rate of 2 LTIs per million 

man hours is comparable with that of oil & gas companies 

in OECD countries. There have been no fatalities at any 

facilities invested by the Company since its formation in 

1993. The Company aims to reduce the LTI Frequency 

Rate and plans to implement more rigorous systems for 

monitoring HSE performance.

operating and financial review
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ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW

Environmental Policy

The Board and the Group’s employees appreciate 

that our activities can have both a direct and indirect 

impact on the environment and on the people who live 

and work in the areas in which we operate. Fortune 

Oil has a policy of minimising this impact and seeking 

to work with our partners and stakeholders in China in 

improving environmental performance and fostering close 

relationships with the local community.

There is a growing awareness of environmental issues in 

China and a demand for safer, less polluting fuels. Natural 

gas is the most environmentally friendly, safe and efficient 

hydrocarbon fuel and we have been one of the first 

international companies to supply natural gas to users 

in China.

Oil and Gas Emissions

Our primary HSE focus is to prevent the release of oil 

and gas, whether they occur through leaks in pipelines, 

spills or leaks during transfers, the venting of tanks or 

tank overflows. Some of these emissions may be beyond 

the Company’s direct control, particularly where we are 

a minority partner or where a leak is caused by a third 

party. Storage tanks containing liquid hydrocarbons, 

such as those at Bluesky and West Zhuhai, always have 

some unavoidable vapour loss. The Group has a policy of 

targetting zero accidental releases of hydrocarbons to the 

environment from all of its operating companies.

Fortune Oil is the only non-domestic company with a 

major interest in a crude oil import facility in China (the 

Maoming SPM). We recognise that a spill of crude oil from 

the SPM buoy or subsea pipeline could have a significant 

environmental impact. To this end we endeavour to ensure 

that facilities at this MKM joint venture are maintained 

to the highest standards and that an environmental 

protection vessel, a tug and a fire fighting vessel are 

stationed at the SPM whenever a tanker is discharging oil. 

There has been no spill of crude oil from MKM’s facilities 

since its start-up in 1994.

The Bluesky and West Zhuhai joint ventures, where we 

have a minority interest, handle lighter refined products 

(jet fuel, diesel and gasoline). At both Bluesky and 

West Zhuhai there are regular environmental checks in 

accordance with local government procedures and both 

companies are developing plans to attain ISO 14001 

certification. China has recently introduced design 

requirements for new floating roof tanks to reduce vapour 

emissions; these standards are more stringent than those 

in almost every OECD country and will be implemented for 

new tanks being installed in the Bluesky operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Methane, the main constituent of natural gas, is also a 

greenhouse gas. Hence, emissions to the atmosphere 

are a potential hazard to the environment as well as a 

safety concern. We require our gas ventures to carry 

out continuous manual inspection of pipelines for leaks 

and to have emergency response procedures in place. 

We require each of our gas ventures to report any 

measurable emissions of methane, and we are not aware 

of any significant emissions in 2005. Most of the emitted 

methane would have arisen from the venting of tanks 

and pipelines.

The Group’s operations do not currently involve any 

significant consumption of fuel for heat or power 

generation, except for high-efficiency natural gas 

compressors. Our direct emissions of carbon dioxide 

(CO2) are therefore low. There are also indirect emissions 

from vehicles and vessels used by the Group, our 

suppliers and customers and also through any travel 

by Group employees. Inevitably the fuels we supply to 

end-users result in CO2 being emitted to the atmosphere, 

which may have an adverse impact on global warming. 

However, such users would otherwise consume more 

polluting and less efficient fuels such as coal-based fuels, 

so our intervention provides a net saving in CO2 emissions.

operating and financial review
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Expenditure

This is the first year that the Group results have been 

stated and audited in accordance with IFRS. IFRS has not 

resulted in any significant impacts on the results or the 

financial position of the Group.

Revenues including the Group’s share of joint ventures 

increased by 21 per cent to £143.1 million (US$260.2 

million) in 2005 from £118.1 million (US$216.4 million) in 

2004. The profit attributable to equity shareholders was 

£2.8 million (US$5.1 million), an increase of 8 per cent 

over 2004 (£2.6 million, US$4.7 million). Key differences 

were the exceptional item debit in respect of the SPM of 

£0.6 million in 2005 (for loss in disposal of the old buoy) 

and the exceptional item credit in respect of the write-

back of creditor balances of £0.8 million in 2004. Earnings 

per share were 0.16 pence, a marginal decrease on the 

2004 earnings per share of 0.17 pence. This decrease 

was primarily due to the timing of the share conversion by 

the two major shareholders in May 2004.

Capital expenditure and acquisitions increased to 

£10.9 million (US$19.7 million) (2004: £2.8 million), mainly 

comprising the city gas company at Huairou (£3.3 million), 

the Tongzhou CNG station with a fleet of CNG trucks 

(£3.9 million) and a new SPM buoy (£3.2 million). The 

2005 debtors balance includes £1.1 million (US$1.9 

million) secured by a hotel in Beijing. Repayments from 

the hotel totalled £1.8 million (US$3.3 million) in 2005. 

The Group had a net cash position of £2.6 million 

(US$4.5 million) as at 31 December 2005, compared to 

£7.4 million (US$14.2 million) in the previous year. The 

reduction was mainly due to the substantial increase in 

capital expenditure in 2005.

Net assets of the Group rose 19 per cent to £50.7 million 

(US$87 million) as at the end of 2005 compared to 

£42.6 million in 2004 resulting from continued profits 

and exchange gains. 

Other Environmental Impacts

The Group’s operations do not currently involve any 

significant consumption or handling of hazardous 

chemicals and there is no material effluent or waste 

generated. The Group’s operations do not use or 

discharge water in any industrial processes and the total 

consumption of water is small.

China already has a substantial body of legislation 

covering environmental issues. For example environmental 

impact assessment studies are required for most large 

projects, including many of the Bluesky expansion 

projects. Fortune Oil ensures that all of our businesses 

are in compliance with such national and local directives. 

We aim to minimise accidental releases of hydrocarbons 

and to introduce more rigorous systems for environmental 

management and reporting.

operating and financial review
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Financial Costs and Tax

Finance costs for the Group were £454,000 (US$826,000) 

in 2005, similar to the 2004 expense of £421,000 

(US$771,000). Loans to the Group at end 2005 totalled 

£9.1 million (US$15.6 million) of which £4.2 million 

(US$7.3 million) were due to First Level Holdings Limited, 

also the largest shareholder in the Company. 

The Group’s tax charge in 2005 was £544,000 (2004: 

£423,000) representing an effective tax rate of 10 per 

cent (2004: 6.4 per cent). The increase in effective tax 

rate resulted from the payment of tax by a natural gas 

subsidiary at full PRC tax rate.

Foreign exchange

The revenues and expenses of the Group are primarily 

denominated in Chinese renminbi (RMB) and Hong Kong 

dollars (HK$), both of which are linked to the US dollar 

(US$). Over the course of 2005 the pound sterling (£) 

depreciated by 10.1 per cent against the US dollar. In 

addition the PRC authorities began to loosen the RMB/

US$ peg and the RMB appreciated 2.6 per cent in 2005. 

The Company does not proactively hedge currency risk 

and any further revaluation of the RMB or change in 

US$/£ exchange rate in 2006 is likely to affect the Group’s 

results as denominated in sterling. 

The Group sources both RMB for operating expenses 

in China and US$ for equity investments in new joint 

ventures. A major element of the Group’s foreign 

exchange needs currently comes from the dividend 

payments by the Maoming SPM and Bluesky joint 

ventures and from repayment of shareholder loans in 

relation to the West Zhuhai Terminal. Historically the 

Maoming SPM and Bluesky joint ventures have usually 

paid out the full net profit as dividend after contributions 

to employee welfare funds.

Capital Structure

Most of the Group’s investments and expenses take 

place in the PRC and are held through Fortune Oil PRC 

Holdings Limited, a 100 per cent-owned subsidiary of 

the Company in Hong Kong. To facilitate inter-company 

restructuring most of the investments in China are held 

through subsidiary Hong Kong registered companies. 

The Company’s UK operations consist only of local 

representation as a direct expense to the Company.

Returns

The Group uses increase in profit before tax and before 

exceptionals (PATBE) as a measure of growth in return to 

shareholders, as reflected in the LTIP scheme for senior 

management. The Group has a target increase of 15 per 

cent per year. This target has been exceeded on average 

over recent years, for example averaging a 48 per cent 

per year increase from 2002 to 2005.

Dividend Policy

The Group’s policy historically has been to reinvest 

profits rather than declare dividends. Fortune Oil has 

also been restricted from declaring dividends because 

of the deficit in retained earnings. The Board believes 

that it is now appropriate to eliminate this deficit by 

restructuring its balance sheet to more accurately reflect 

its trading position and to enable payment of dividends in 

future. Shareholder approval will be sought for this at the 

forthcoming Extraordinary General Meeting on 21 June, 

subject to court confirmation.

operating and financial review
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GLOSSARY

bcm

Billion cubic metres (1,000,000,000 m3), when converted 

to normal conditions of 0.1 MPa (MegaPascal) pressure 

and 20 degrees Celsius temperature.

CBM

Coal Bed Methane, refers to methane deposits in coal 

seams. CBM is generated during coal formation and 

adsorbed in the natural fracture surfaces in coal. CBM can 

be extracted by drilling. If the gas is extracted during coal 

mining operations, it is more commonly referred to as Coal 

Mine Methane (CMM).

CO� equivalent

The quantity of greenhouse gases emitted in million 

tonnes, when expressed as though it was carbon dioxide 

(CO2), so as to indicate the potential impact on global 

warming.

CNG

Compressed Natural Gas, gas which has been 

compressed to between 4 MPa and 25 MPa of pressure 

so as to reduce the volume for transportation in tanks.

CUCBM

China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd, the PRC 

government entity responsible for entering into PSCs with 

foreign companies for development of CBM fields.

dwt

Dead-weight tonnage, the carrying capacity of a ship.

HSE

Health, Safety and Environment.

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards, a new set 

of accounting standards issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board, and adopted by Fortune Oil 

in 2005 for Group financial statments.

LNG

Liquefied Natural Gas, gas which has been liquefied by 

cooling to approximately 150 degrees Celsius below zero, 

so as to greatly reduce the volume for transportation in 

tanks.

LPG

Liquefied Petroleum Gas, a mixture of propane and butane 

(whereas natural gas is mostly methane). Supplied to 

customers in bottles or via a pipeline network, sometimes 

mixed with air.

LTIFR

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate. An LTI is any work-

related injury or illness which prevents a person working 

the following day. Calculated as LTIs per million working 

hours.

PRC

The People’s Republic of China.

PSC

Production Sharing Contract, an agreement between the 

government and a foreign company for exploration and 

development of a natural resource block.

SPM

Single Point Mooring buoy, which allows an oil tanker to 

moor at its bow and through which oil is discharged to a 

sub-sea pipeline. The MKM subsidiary operates the only 

SPM in China for import of crude oil.

UK GAAP

General Accepted Accounting Principles applicable in the 

United Kingdom.
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Executive Directors

Mr Daniel  CHIU, aged 45, is Executive Vice-Chairman of Fortune Oil and has been a Director since August 1993. He 

and Bruce McGOwAn were Joint Executive Vice-Chairmen between June 2000 and April 2006 and Mr McGOwAn retired 

from the Board on 24 April 2006. Mr CHiu was Fortune Oil’s Chief Executive prior to becoming Vice Chairman in October 

1994. He is Chairman of Federal Asia Company Limited, a privately held real estate investment and trading company with 

extensive operations in China. He is also a non-executive Director of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.

Ms LI Ching, aged 47, became Chief Executive in April 2001. Li Ching was a non-executive Director of Fortune Oil 

between August 1993 and June 1998 and was appointed Joint Chief Executive (Operation) in March 1999. She was 

appointed in 1990 as Executive Director of Kingsleigh Petroleum Limited, nominated by the PRC minority shareholders in 

the Kingsleigh Group. Previously she was Deputy Director of China north industries Corporation (nORinCO) which she 

joined after graduating from The Economic and Financial institute of Beijing.

Mr John PEXTON, aged 45, joined Fortune Oil as Deputy Chief Executive in February 2004. Mr PExTOn worked for ten 

years as a chartered Chemical Engineer in the downstream oil industry followed by ten years with Morgan Grenfell and 

Deutsche Bank in London. Prior to joining the Company he was a Director and Head of Asia Project Finance for Deutsche 

Bank in Hong Kong and advised PetroChina on developing the west-East Gas Pipeline. He holds an MA degree from 

Jesus College, Cambridge and an MBA from London Business School.

Ms Louisa HO, aged 41, has been Finance Director since February 2004, prior to which she was Deputy Chief Executive. 

She joined Fortune Oil as Financial Controller in 1993. She has an MSc in Data Processing from the university of ulster 

and a B Soc Sc from the university of Hong Kong. Before joining Fortune Oil, she worked in a range of positions in 

controller and operations departments at Esso Hong Kong Limited.

Mr GONG Min, aged 48, joined Fortune Oil in 2000, and has worked as General Manager of the Project Department since 

2002. He graduated with a Masters Degree in international public law at the institute of Law, China Academy of Social 

Science in Beijing. Prior to joining Fortune Oil he worked for 10 years in the oil trading business with Sinochem, at both its 

head-office in Beijing and as the General Manager of Sinochem international Oil (London) Co. Ltd in the united Kingdom.

Non-executive Directors

Mr QIAN Benyuan*, aged 61, non-executive Chairman since May 1997. Mr QiAn was President and CEO of China 

national Electronics import & Export Corporation between May 1995 and April 2005. Following his retirement from CEiEC, 

he has formally joined Fortune Oil PLC and continued to serve on the Board as a non-executive Chairman based in Beijing. 

Mr QiAn is also Vice President of the China Chamber of Commerce for Machinery & Electronics Products import & Export 

and Chairman of China Hewlett-Packard Co., Ltd. He has over 20 years experience in electronics trading. He received a 

BA degree from Beijing Foreign Language institute and an MA degree from China Science & Technology university.

Mr Trevor BEDFORD† MBE, aged 71, Senior independent Director, and Chairman of the Audit Committee. He was 

appointed non-executive Director of Fortune Oil on 8 February 1999. Trevor BEDFORD was the Chief Executive of The 

Hong Kong Land Group in 1978, Chairman of Mandarin Oriental Hotels and also a director of the Hong Kong Bank, 

Jardine Matheson Limited, the Hong Kong/Canton Railway Corporation, HK Electric, HK Telephone and many other 

public companies. He is currently Chairman, Director and/or consultant of six companies located in the united Kingdom, 

Switzerland, the united States, Hong Kong and South Africa.

board of directors 
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Mr Dennis CHIU†*, aged 47, non-executive Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Dennis CHiu has 

been a Director of Fortune Oil since August 1993. He is Managing Director of Far East Consortium international Limited, 

a regional real estate and leisure company listed in Hong Kong. He is also a director of Far East Hotels & Entertainment 

Limited and Far East Technology international Limited in Hong Kong, and a director of a number of companies in 

Singapore and Malaysia. Mr CHiu received a BA degree from the university of Sussex.

Mr Ian TAYLOR†* aged 49, non-executive Director. ian TAyLOR was an Executive Director of Fortune Oil between 

August 1993 and June 1996. He relinquished his executive role and became a non-executive Director on 16 June 1996. 

Mr TAyLOR is President of Vitol S.A., a leading international petroleum trading company. He was Managing Director of 

Vitol Asia Pte Limited between 1992 and 1994. He joined Vitol S.A. in 1985 from Shell where he held various positions 

in shipping, operations and trading. Mr TAyLOR received an MA degree in Politics, Philosophy and Economics from Oxford 

university in 1978.

Mr WANG Jinjun*, aged 49, independent non-executive Director and was appointed in november 2003. Mr wAnG 

is based in Hong Kong and was Deputy Managing Director of Top Glory international Holdings Limited, a leading hotel 

management and real estate business which was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange until September 2003, when 

it was privatised. He is also a director of China national Cereals, Oil and Foodstuffs import & Export Corporation and has 

served as a senior official at China’s Ministry of Foreign Trade.

Mr FENG Xuechang, aged 64, non-executive Director and was appointed in August 1993. FEnG xuechang graduated 

from Harbin institute of Technology in 1966 and has over 25 years experience in engineering and research and 

development. Since 1980, Mr FEnG has been employed by CEiEC where he has held various positions. Mr FEnG is 

currently a director of CEiEC.

Mr LI Anxi, aged 52, non-executive Director since June 2005. Li Anxi is President and Party Secretary of Maoming 

Petrochemical Corporation (MPCC). Graduated from Hefei university of Technology in 1978, Mr Li started his career at 

Qilu Petrochemical Corporation and worked there for 22 years, holding various important management positions. He was 

appointed as Party Secretary of MPCC in July 2004 and became President of MPCC and Legal Representative of Sinopec 

Maoming Branch Company in March 2005.

Mr LI De, aged 61, non-executive Director. Li De was appointed as a Director of Fortune Oil in May 1997. Currently Mr Li 

is President of nORinCO. He joined nORinCO in 1983 and has held various positions since then. Mr Li graduated from 

Heilongjiang university in 1968.

Mr YANG Chunshu, aged 63, non-executive Director since July 2000. Mr yAnG received a Masters degree in 

Engineering and is a Senior Postgraduate Engineer. He worked in various senior positions in Beijing institute of 

Aeronautical Materials; China Aviation industry Corporation and China national Aero-Technology import & Export 

Corporation. Mr yAnG has extensive experience in aeronautical technology, development and management.

Mr ZHI Yulin, aged 40, non-executive Director since november 2000. Mr ZHi graduated from Beijing institute of 

Technology in 1985, nanjing institute of Technology in 1987 and received an EMBA at China Europe international 

Business School in 2000. He joined nORinCO in 1987 and has held various positions since then. He is currently the  

Vice President of nORinCO.

† Member of the Audit Committee

* Member of the Remuneration Committee

21	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report



22	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are the investing in and managing oil and gas and infrastructure projects in China.

Operating and Financial Review

The Operating and Financial Review is presented on pages 8 to 19.

Results and Dividends

The results for the year ended 31 December 2005 are set out in the group income statement on page 47.

The Directors do not propose to pay a dividend (2004: nil).

Post Balance Sheet Events

On 24 February 2006, the Company announced that the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Fortune Oil PRC Holdings 

Limited would increase its effective shareholding in the west Zhuhai Oil Products Terminal from 18.5% to 37% and in the 

Fu Duo LPG business from 57.5% to 80% by acquiring all the interests currently held in these businesses by the Vitol 

Group of Companies. The agreed consideration for the increased shareholdings and the outstanding loans owing to  

Vitol from the companies is uS$5.7 million and is subject to shareholder approval at the forthcoming AGM.

in April 2006, the Company announced the proposed cancellation of its share premium account (“Capital Reduction”). 

The Capital Reduction will result in the elimination of the deficit on the Company’s profit and loss accounts and subject 

to appropriate funds being available for the purpose, enables the Company to commence payment of a dividend at the 

discretion of the Directors. The Capital Reduction will be subject to the confirmation of the High Court in England.

The Company has convened an Extraordinary General Meeting to be held at 11:30am on wednesday, 21 June 2006 

(EGM) to approve the above proposals. A notice convening the EGM and a form of proxy are contained in the circular 

accompanying this annual report.

On 18 April 2006, the Company announced a conditional agreement to take a 60% interest in a company formed to 

develop coal bed methane (“CBM”) gas reserves in the Liulin block in Shanxi Province, China. The other 40% shareholding 

will be held by Molopo Australia Limited (“Molopo”), an Australian listed company with significant experience in the 

development of CBM in Australia. Subject to approval by the Ministry of Commerce, the foreign contractor rights in the 

Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”) will be extended and transferred to the new company, Fortune Liulin Gas Company 

Limited, registered in Hong Kong. The initial obligation of the Company is to commit uS$2.5 million for further field 

appraisal, to be financed from the Company’s cashflow.

report of the directors 



23	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

Corporate Governance

A report on Corporate Governance and compliance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (“the Code”) is 

set out on pages 26 to 32.

A statement of Directors  Responsibilities for the financial statements is included on page 44.

Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Report on pages 33 to 43 of this Annual Report will be proposed for approval at the Company’s Annual 

General Meeting (“AGM”) on wednesday, 21 June 2006.

Directors

The present members of the Board and of the Audit and Remuneration Committees as at the date of this Report are listed 

below. Brief biographical details of the Directors appear on pages 20 and 21.

Executive Directors  

1. Daniel Tatjung CHiu (Vice-Chairman)

2. Li Ching (Chief Executive)

3. John Michael PExTOn (Deputy Chief Executive)

4. Louisa yuk-king HO (Finance Director)

5. GOnG Min

Non-Executive Directors

1. QiAn Benyuan* (Chairman) 6. FEnG xuechang‡

2. Trevor John BEDFORD† (Senior independent Director) 7. Li Anxi

3. wAnG Jinjun* (independent Director) 8. Li De‡

4. Dennis Tatshing CHiu*† 9. yAnG Chunshu‡

5. ian Roper TAyLOR*† 10. ZHi yulin
   
* Member of the Remuneration Committee
† Member of the Audit Committee
‡ Retiring at the AGM

The following changes occurred in the composition of the Board during the year:

FAnG Guangxin Resigned 22 June 2005

John Michael PExTOn Appointed 22 June 2005

GOnG Min Appointed 22 June 2005

Li Anxi Appointed 22 June 2005

The director retiring by rotation is Daniel CHiu who, being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the AGM on 21 June 

2006.

non-executive Directors who have held office for more than nine years are required to submit themselves for re-election 

every year in accordance with A.7.2 of the Code. Having served on the Board since 9 August 1993, 23 June 1996 and 

28 May 1997 respectively as non-executive Directors, Dennis CHiu, ian TAyLOR and QiAn Benyuan will retire at the 

forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

report of the directors 
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However, FEnG xuechang, a non-executive Director since August 1993, has decided that he will retire from the Board at 

forthcoming AGM and therefore will not be offering himself for re-election. Mr Li De and Mr yAnG Chunshu will also retire 

from the Board at the forthcoming AGM.

none of the Executive Directors standing for re-election have a director’s service contract. The non-executive Directors 

have a letter of appointment. The remaining Directors unanimously recommend the re-appointment of each Director.

Directors’ Interests in shares and options over shares

Details of Directors’ interests in the Company’s shares and options over shares in the ordinary share capital of the 

Company are set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 33 to 43. Other than as disclosed therein, no Directors had 

any material interest in any contract of significance concerning the Company or its subsidiaries during or at the end of the 

financial year ended 31 December 2005.

Substantial Shareholdings

As at the date of this report, the Company has been notified under section 198 of the Companies Act 1985 of the 

following holders of 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company:

   Number of shares   %

First Level Holdings Limited (1)  647,244,897  35.27

Goldman Sachs Securities (nominees) Limited iLSEG ACCT  (2)   70,510,867   3.82

Vitol Energy (Bermuda) Limited    162,457,748  8.85

JTC Trustees Limited (3)  60,000,000   3.27

 Barclays nominees Limited   55,838,337  3.04 

(1) First Level Holdings Limited is a company in which the majority of shares are owned by Daniel CHiu and the remainder by Dennis CHiu.

(2) First Level Holdings Limited has a beneficial interest in 70,000,000 shares

(3) The trustee for the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust under its Long Term incentive Plan

Directors & Officers Liability Insurance

During the year ended 31 December 2005, the Company maintained cover for its Directors and officers and those of 

its subsidiary companies under a Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy, as permitted by section 310(3) of the 

Companies Act 1985.

Political and Charitable Donations

During the year, the Group made no political or charitable contributions.

Policy for Payment of Creditors

The Company’s policy for all suppliers is to fix terms of payment when agreeing the terms of each business transaction, to 

ensure that the supplier is aware of those terms and to abide by the agreed terms of payment. As at 31 December 2005, 

the Company had trade creditors outstanding for an average of 35 days. (2004: 23 days).

report of the directors 
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Impact of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The implications of the transition to iFRS are shown in the notes to the financial statements.

Financial Risk Management

Details of the Group’s financial risk management policies are included in note 24 to the group financial statements.

Auditors

The auditors, RSM Robson Rhodes LLP, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The AGM will be held at 11am on wednesday, 21 June 2006 at Oriental Club, Stratford House, Stratford Place, London 

w1C 1ES, united Kingdom. The notice convening the meeting is being sent to shareholders separately with this Report. 

Resolutions will also be proposed for items of special business, namely authorisation for the directors to allot ordinary 

shares, the disapplication of pre-emption rights and the amendment of certain regulations of the Articles of Association. 

Details of all resolutions together with an explanation of the items of special business to be considered at the meeting are 

set out in the notice.

Approval

The Report of the Directors was approved by the Board on 12 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Sandi CHOI

Company Secretary

report of the directors 
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Compliance with the Combined Code

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the principal requirements of the Combined Code on 

Corporate Governance (“the Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2005 as follows:

Directors

At the date of this Annual Report, for the purposes of Code provision A.1.2, the Board comprises fifteen directors: five are 

Executive Directors, five are Non-executive Directors that take a formal role in management through attendance at Board 

meetings and Committee matters and five are Non-executive Directors that are representing PRC joint venture investment 

partners. Three of the Non-executive Directors representing PRC investment partners will retire at the forthcoming Annual 

General Meeting (“AGM”).

The Executive Directors are Daniel CHIU (Executive Vice-Chairman), LI Ching (Chief Executive), John PEXTON (Deputy 

Chief Executive), Louisa HO (Finance Director) and GONG Min (Director).

Trevor BEDFORD is the Senior Independent (Non-executive) Director and WANG Jinjun is also an Independent Non-

executive Director. The Non-executive Directors who take a management role in board meetings and committees are 

QIAN Benyuan, Trevor BEDFORD, WANG Jinjun, Dennis CHIU and Ian TAYLOR. Trevor BEDFORD is the Chairman of the 

Audit Committee and WANG Jinjun is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The other Non-executive Directors 

form an important part of the relations of the Company with key shareholders and businesses in the PRC but do not take 

a significant role on governance matters. The names and biographies of all the current Directors are on pages 20 to 21 

which also detail the composition of the board committees.

The role of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate, ensuring a clear division of responsibility. The Chairman 

is responsible for the leadership of the Board, while the Chief Executive is responsible for the development and 

implementation of policy and strategy and for day-to-day operations of the Group.

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved for its decision, which includes overall strategy, business planning, 

acquisitions, disposals, board membership and major capital expenditure, thus ensuring that it maintains full and effective 

control over appropriate strategic, financial, organisational and compliance issues. Directors are timely provided with 

appropriate information by means of briefing papers distributed in advance of board meetings and on an ad hoc basis 

where necessary.

The role of the Company Secretary is to ensure that Board procedures are followed and that all applicable rules and 

regulations are complied with. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary (whose 

appointment or removal is a matter for the Board as a whole). All Directors, including Non-executive Directors, are  

able to take independent professional advice if necessary, at the Company’s expense, in the furtherance of their duties as 

Directors.

The Board as a whole rather than a Nomination Committee consider new Board appointments. In making appointments 

the Board considers the particular skills, knowledge and experience that would most benefit the Board and may use 

external recruitment consultants to provide a shortlist of potential interviewees and recommendations for the Board to 

consider. The Board is responsible for the appointment and removal of its own members.

corporate governance
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On appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive induction to the Group’s business including site visits, meetings 

with senior management across the business and Group functions and meetings with major shareholders. As an ongoing 

process, Directors are briefed and provided with additional updates on changes and developments in the business and 

on legislative and regulatory issues, as appropriate. Existing Directors visit operating divisions and local management on a 

regular basis.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for specific terms as required by the Code. The terms and conditions of 

appointment of Non-executive Directors are available for inspection and a sample letter of appointment is available on 

the Company’s website. All Directors are subject to re-election by the shareholders at the first general meeting following 

their appointment by the Board. Subsequently they must seek re-election at least every three years according to the 

Company’s articles of association and in compliance with the Code.

The Company maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Directors and other officers of 

the Group.

Board Performance Evaluation

Self-assessment evaluation questionnaires were carried out in respect of the Board and its Committees and the individual 

directors for the year 2005. A Review Panel comprising the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Senior Independent Director 

discussed their views and gave feedback on individual questionnaires. The results of the evaluation were reported to 

the Board and where areas for improvement have been identified, actions have been agreed. The Vice-Chairman and 

the Senior Independent Director appraised the performance of the Chairman. It concluded that the Chairman made a 

significant contribution to the effective and efficient running of the Board. The Directors concluded that the Board and its 

Committees operated effectively and that, as individuals, the Directors were each contributing to the overall effectiveness 

of the Board.

Board Committees

The Board has established an Executive Committee, a Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee with delegated 

duties and responsibilities. The Company Secretary is the Secretary for these Committees. The terms of reference of the 

Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee are available on the Company’s website, www.fortune-oil.com

The full Board did not meet formally during the year as some of the Directors were unable to attend. Because of this, 

the Board has delegated principal responsibility for the development of the Company to the Executive Committee. The 

Executive Committee Directors do meet informally with individual Non-executive Directors on a regular basis at their 

individual operational sites to obtain their views on Board and business matters. In addition when Directors are unable 

to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to convey their thoughts 

and make their views known to the Vice-Chairman prior to the meeting. The Company’s Non-executive Directors are 

considered as either “management Non-executives” or “investment partner Non-executives.” While the management 

Non-executives take an active role in the management of the Company including attending Board meetings and forming 

part of the Board committees, the investment partner Non-executives were appointed to the Board for their connections 

with the Group’s business operations in China as they are senior managers and/or chairmen of other corporations. These 

investment partner Non-executive Directors perform a vital business role and provide valuable entrepreneurial leadership 
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within the local environment for the Group’s strategic aims in China. They do not normally attend Board meetings of the 

Company or become members of the Board committees of the Company. It should be noted that the time commitment 

expected from the investment partner Non-executives does not relate to attendance at Board meetings. Their time 

is spent visiting the Group’s businesses and attending Company events. The Executive Directors and Non-executive 

Directors also meet outside formal meetings to discuss business issues. The investment partner Non-executive Directors 

are also available for consultation on specific issues falling within their particular fields of expertise.

As required by Code provision A.1.2, the total number of Board and committee meetings held during the year to  

31 December 2005 and individual attendance by Directors are shown below:

 Full Executive Audit Remuneration
 Board Committee Committee Committee

  (maximum 2) (maximum 5) (maximum 2) (maximum 1)

Executive Directors

Daniel CHIU 2 5 N/A N/A

Bruce McGOWAN1 2 5 2* N/A

LI Ching 2 5 N/A N/A

John PEXTON2 1 5 1* N/A

Louisa HO 2 5 2* N/A

GONG Min2 1 5 N/A N/A

Non-executive Directors:

(i) Management Non-executive Directors:

QIAN Benyuan 2 N/A N/A 1

Trevor BEDFORD 2 N/A 2 N/A

Dennis CHIU 0 N/A 1 1

Ian TAYLOR 1 N/A 2 1

WANG Jinjun 0 N/A N/A 0

(ii) Investment partner Non-executive Directors:

FANG Guangxin3 0 N/A N/A N/A

LI Anxi4 0 N/A N/A N/A

FENG Xuechang5 1 N/A N/A N/A

LI De5 0 N/A N/A N/A

YANG Chunshu5 1 N/A N/A N/A

 ZHI Yulin 1 N/A N/A N/A

* attended by invitation only – means that specific Director is not a member of that committee, although he or she may attend meetings at 

the invitation of the Chairman of that Committee.
1 Bruce McGOWAN retired from the Board on 24 April 2006.
2 John PEXTON and GONG Min were appointed to the Board on 22 June 2005. They have attended all Board meetings held since their 

appointment.
3 FANG Guangxin resigned from the Board on 22 June 2005.
4 LI Anxi was appointed to the Board on 22 June 2005.
5 FENG Xuechang, LI De and YANG Chunshu will resign from the Board at the forthcoming AGM on 21 June 2006.
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The Board delegates day-to-day operational development, strategic activities of the Group and business management 

control to the Executive Committee, which comprises the Executive Directors and the senior managers of the Group. 

The Committee is responsible for implementing Group policy, the monitoring and performance of the business and 

reporting to the Board members thereon.

The Remuneration Committee comprises four Non-executive Directors: WANG Jinjun (Chairman), Dennis CHIU, QIAN 

Benyuan and Ian TAYLOR. It determines on behalf of the Board the remuneration and benefits of the Executive Directors 

of the Company and Senior Executives of the Group. The Board as a whole determine the level of fees of the Non-

executive Directors and meets as required. During the year, the Remuneration Committee adopted terms of reference  

as required by Code provision B.2.1.

The Audit Committee comprises three Non-executive Directors: Trevor BEDFORD (Chairman), Dennis CHIU and Ian 

TAYLOR. It meets at least twice a year. Additional meetings are called whenever it is considered appropriate. The 

Executive Directors attend the meetings as considered appropriate by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 

reviews, prior to publication, the interim reports, preliminary announcements and full annual reports including the statutory 

financial statements of the Group. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the financial results remains 

with the Board. The Committee adopted its terms of reference in April 2005 and there is also a procedure in place for 

‘whistleblowing’ in accordance with Code provision C.3.4.

The external auditors are permitted to undertake some non-audit services under the approval of the Board and Audit 

Committee. The Board does not regard these non-audit services to be significant or to threaten their independence given 

that the external auditors knowledge of the Group’s affairs provides significant advantages, which other service providers 

would not have. The fees for audit and non-audit services are provided in note 4 on page 58, notes to the financial 

statements.

Internal Controls and Risk Review

The Combined Code requires an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by 

the Company. The risk management process is in place and is regularly reviewed by the Board and accords with the  

Code guidance.

The Board receives and reviews detailed risk analysis reports, which address the significant risk areas with proposals 

for mitigating and managing those risks. These reports are prepared by Directors in conjunction with the management 

personnel in the relevant departments and/or joint ventures.

The Board recognises its responsibility for the Company’s systems of internal control and reviewing its effectiveness. Such 

systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failing to achieve business objectives and can provide 

reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has a proven system of internal financial controls and reporting procedures, which integrate the financial 

reports of the joint ventures and associate companies. It is the intention of the Board to initiate a review to examine 

and update these controls and procedures on an ongoing basis. The Executive Committee meets regularly to review 

the budgets, financial reports and forward cash flow projections for the Company and its principal joint ventures and 

associate companies. The joint venture companies prepare monthly, six monthly and annual accounts. The Committee is 
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responsible for examining the formal system of internal controls and reports and modifying the system where changes in 

business activities and/or the external environment dictate.

The Company established a formal internal audit function during the year. Internal audit reports were distributed to 

Executive Directors which enabled them to access the effectiveness of the system of internal control. In addition, 

management actively participates in, and conducts internal audits of joint ventures and associated companies on a 

periodic basis. Bluesky maintains an internal audit function which reports to its Board.

The Executive Committee is responsible for establishing guidelines and procedures for the evaluation and development of 

new investment proposals open to the Company. The Committee formally reviews the financial projections and the risks 

inherent in new proposals before submitting significant capital expenditure projects to the Board for its approval.

The majority of the Company’s activities are conducted through subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies 

which have their own boards of directors, management structures and accounting/reporting procedures. In all the joint 

ventures, the Company has directors on the boards either in a majority position or with minority protection voting powers 

for matters which could prejudice the Company’s rights and financial returns. In addition, the Company has ensured that 

its own staff members are seconded to key management positions in the joint ventures, such that the Company can 

monitor and has the ability to influence operational decisions.

Relations with Shareholders

In accordance with Code provision D.1.1, the Chairman meets as required with the major shareholders. Non-executive 

Directors, including the Senior Independent Director, are given the opportunity to attend meetings with the major 

shareholders to discuss their views. In accordance with Code provision D.1.1, the Senior Independent Director should 

attend meetings with major shareholders to listen to their views. The Senior Independent Director is available to any 

shareholders if they have specific concerns that cannot be resolved through normal channels of communication.

Business presentations are made for the full year or interim results to analysts and institutional investors. Briefings are also 

given to analysts and other meetings are held to discuss the Company’s strategy with institutional investors on an annual 

basis. The Company makes constructive use of the AGM to communicate with all shareholders. A business presentation 

is given at the AGM.

The Company posts the annual report and notice of AGM at least 20 working days before the AGM. At the AGM, separate 

resolutions are proposed on each significant business issue. Voting is by way of a show of hands by members present at 

the meeting unless a poll is validly called and this practice will continue. At the AGM the number of proxy votes lodged for 

each resolution, in the categories “For” and “Against”, together with the number of “Votes Withheld” will be available for 

review by shareholders.

There is an intention to introduce the use of CREST proxy voting at general meetings, including the forthcoming AGM.

Going Concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis as the Directors are satisfied that the  

Group can reasonably expect that adequate resources are available for it to continue in operational existence for the 

foreseeable future.
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Non-compliance with the Requirements of the Code:

The Board believes the Company has been in compliance with the provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code 

with the following exceptions, which the Directors do not consider to be fundamental to the exercise of good corporate 

governance.

A.3.2 Currently, ten of the Company’s fifteen directors are Non-executive Directors. Given the stringent definition of 

“independent” under the Code, the Company acknowledges that eight Non-executive Directors are not strictly considered 

to be independent for the following reasons:

Dennis CHIU is the brother of Daniel CHIU who is the Executive Vice-chairman of the Group. Ian TAYLOR is the President 

of the Vitol Group of companies, which is a significant shareholder of the Company. Among the other Non-executive 

Directors, six Non-executive Directors are appointed by major PRC companies which are shareholders in the Company. 

With the retirement of YANG Chunshu, FENG Xuechang and LI De at the forthcoming AGM, the PRC shareholders do not 

intend to nominate replacements. During the year, Trevor BEDFORD, Senior Independent Director, voluntarily exercised 

all his share options and as at the date of this Report, QIAN Benyuan, FENG Xuechang and LI De, three Non-executive 

Directors participate in the Company’s share incentive scheme.

A.3.1 This provision provides that “the board should determine whether the Non-executive Director is independent 

in character and judgement” and whether there are relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could 

appear to affect, the director’s judgement.” The Non-executive Directors noted above who are connected to major 

shareholders of the Company are appointed to assist the development of the Group and to promote its activities in the 

PRC. The Board recognises that they bring a valuable range of international experience and expertise. During the year, 

the Board considered that QIAN Benyuan’s character and integrity is such that he should continue to serve on the Board 

as Chairman following his retirement at CEIEC. The Directors consider that all Non-executive Directors provide significant 

input as Non-executive Directors to the Board and are independent in character and judgement. Despite the fact that Ian 

TAYLOR is connected to a major shareholder, he is considered to be independent in the exercise of duties. The Board will 

continue to consider the issue of Non-executive Directors and will make additional appointments if considered necessary.

A.4.4. Letters of appointment for Non-executive Directors do not set out fixed time commitments since the time 

commitment expected for our Non-executive Directors is not restricted to Board meetings. The Board is kept informed 

of their other significant commitments and is satisfied that each Non-executive Director has sufficient time to fulfil the 

commitments the Company expected of him.

A.7.2. The Board is aware of the provision in the Code governing the re-election of Non-executive Directors for terms 

beyond six years. FENG Xuechang who has served on the Board for 12 years, LI De who has served on the Board for 9 

years and YANG Chunshu who has served on the Board for nearly 6 years have decided to retire from the Board at the 

forthcoming AGM. Dennis CHIU and Ian TAYLOR have served on the Board for more than nine years and will need to seek 

re-appointment as a director on an annual basis. The Board considers that, given their integrity, this does not affect the 

independence the long serving Non-executive Directors. Whilst such limits as to term under the Code help to ensure that 

fresh ideas and views are available to the Board, they have the disadvantage of losing the contribution of directors who 

have a wealth of understanding of the Group’s business and the management team. The individual interest in serving on 

the Board as a Non-executive Director for terms beyond six years should not, in the opinion of the Board, be prejudiced.
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The Company considers that the strong representation on the Board by Non-executive Directors, although not entirely 

independent in accordance with the definition of ‘independence’ set out in Code provision A.3.1, provides an effective 

Board, which contains both a mixture of industry-specific knowledge and broad business and commercial experience in 

China.

A.4.1 This provision states that the Board should establish a Nomination Committee to make recommendations to the 

Board on all new Board appointments. The Board has resolved that nominations to the Board should be considered by 

the Board as a whole, rather than delegating this task to a Nomination Committee as recommended by the Code.

B.1.6 This provision requires notice or contract periods to be set at one year or less in service contracts. None of 

the Executive Directors have service contracts. The Board believes that service contracts would not be in the best 

interests of the Company. In the event that a contract is terminated before its expiry terms, the Company may need to 

make payments in lieu of notice since it usually provides for pre-determined amounts of compensation on termination 

of contract. The Group policy concerning directors service contracts and the termination policy are set out in the 

Remuneration Report on page 38. The terms and conditions of appointment of the Non-executive Directors are available 

for inspection at the Company’s registered office and will also be available at the 2006 AGM.

B.2.1 This provision requires the Remuneration Committee to consist exclusively of independent Non-executive Directors. 

WANG Jinjun, an independent Non-executive Director was appointed as the Chairman of the Committee in June 2005. 

The remaining three Non-executive Directors who make up the Remuneration Committee are not independent. However, 

none of these three committee members have any personal financial interest in the matters to be decided, or potential 

conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships or any day-to-day involvement in the running of the business.

B.2.2 The Remuneration Committee comprises the four Non-executive Directors, which includes the Chairman who is a 

Non-executive Director. The setting of the Chairman’s remuneration is the responsibility of the Executive Committee. The 

Board believes that this is appropriate.

C.3.1 This provision requires an Audit Committee of at least three, or in the case of smaller companies (not within the 

FTSE 350) two, members, who should all be independent Non-executive Directors. While the Chairman is independent, 

the two members are not independent for the reasons disclosed above. On a strict interpretation of the Code, the 

Audit Committee does not have at least one member who fulfils the relevant financial experience criteria set out in the 

Code. However, the Board believes that all members of the Audit Committee are of a high calibre and have extensive 

management, business and financial experience in large international organisations such that the necessary functions of 

the Committee are competently carried out.
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The Remuneration Report sets out the policy and disclosures on Executive Directors’ and Senior Executives’ remuneration 

and has been prepared in accordance with the provisions in the Directors Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and the 

relevant requirements of the Combined Code attached to the Listing Rules.

The auditors are required to report to the shareholders on the auditable part of this Report. This Report has therefore 

been divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited information. The auditors’ opinion is included in their 

reports on pages 45, 46, 81 and 82.

SECTION 1: UNAUDITED INFORMATION

Remuneration Committee
The Committee members are WANG Jinjun (Chairman), Dennis CHIU, QIAN Benyuan and Ian TAYLOR, all of whom 

are Non-executive Directors of the Company. During the year, WANG joined the Committee and was appointed as the 

Chairman of the Committee on 23 June 2005. Dennis CHIU, the former Committee Chairman, remains a member in the 

Committee.

The Committee determines the remuneration policy as applied to the Executive Directors of the Company and Senior 

Executives of the Group. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The Committee is also responsible for 

approving changes to the Company’s share option schemes and also for approving share option grants. It consults with 

the Executive Vice-Chairman and the Chief Executive and has access to professional advice from appropriate internal and 

external sources, as considered necessary. The Company has not employed any remuneration consultants.

The Board is satisfied that none of the Remuneration Committee members have any personal financial interest, other than 

as shareholders, in the matters to be decided, no conflicts of interest arising from cross directorships and no involvement 

in the day-to-day running of the Company’s business.

The Committee adopted its terms of reference in June 2005.

Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and Senior Executives
The objectives of the remuneration policy for Executive Directors and Senior Executives are:

• to ensure that the remuneration packages offered attract, retain and motivate individuals of the highest calibre to 

further the success of the business;

• to link reward to both individual and business performance, whilst aligning the interests of directors and shareholders;

• to link the Executives to the long-term success of the Group through appropriate incentive share scheme 

arrangements.

The remuneration policy is designed to reward executives fairly and responsibly for their contribution without the Company 

paying more than necessary to achieve this objective.

The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Board maintain contact as required with the Company’s principal shareholders 

regarding implementation and the effectiveness of the remuneration schemes.
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In formulating the remuneration policy and determining the remuneration package, due notice has been taken of a number 

of considerations including appropriate comparators, the Group’s positioning and relative size, geographical variations and 

recruitment and retention difficulties.

The remuneration package consists of short-term rewards (basic salary, annual bonus and benefits) together with 

long-term benefits (participations in long-term incentive plan). In principle, it should strike a balance between fixed and 

performance related elements of pay. Details of the emoluments to Executive Directors and fees payable to Non-executive 

Directors are set out on page 41. The following remuneration components are reviewed to ensure that they are supportive 

of the Group’s business objectives and in the creation of shareholder value.

1. Basic Salary

The basic salary is determined by taking into account an individual’s performance and responsibilities, his/her relevant 

skills and experience, individual circumstances in relation to the particular post and comparator company information 

for similar jobs. Salaries are reviewed against the background of both business and individual performance. 

2. Annual Bonus Scheme

Bonuses are awarded at the discretion of the Committee and in recognition of the individual’s contribution to the 

success of the Company and upon the personal achievement of specified objectives.

During the year, following a review by the Remuneration Committee, it was agreed that:

i. all Directors, executives and regular employees are eligible to participate in the scheme (Non-executive Directors 

may not participate in the scheme);

ii. the bonus for achieving on-target performance is a maximum of 20 to 25 per cent of the basic salary, with a 

maximum of 50 per cent of basic salary for significant over-achievement. The bonus shall not exceed 10% of gross 

annual profit; and

iii. two types of performance criteria will be considered in connection with the award of the annual bonus and they are

• Personal Performance Criteria

The personal performance criteria of the Executive Directors and Senior Executives are the same as those defined 

in the Long Term Incentive Plan, 2004 share schemes and their annual work objectives for the executives and 

senior employees.

• Financial Performance Criteria

They are based wholly on challenging financial performance targets. For executives and employees assigned 

to business units and joint ventures, the financial performance criteria are tied to the annual budget, which is 

approved by the appropriate board.

For head office executives and employees, the financial performance criteria are tied to the profit after tax before 

exceptionals (“PATBE”). For this purpose, 15 per cent growth per annum is considered as the target.

These support short term rewards and long term incentive plan which are targeted at both personal and company 

performance and align the interests of Directors with those of shareholders by linking share and cash incentive 

payments to performance.
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Bonus can be in the form of cash or shares.

Payment of a bonus is carefully considered in each individual case and only made when justified by reference to 

financial and operational yardsticks.

No bonus has been awarded in recent years and in 2005.

3. Benefits

Benefits are considered individually and by reference to relevant criteria to ensure the total remuneration package 

conforms with the aims of the remuneration policy.

4. Pension

There is no pension provision made for employees of the Group.

5. Share Option Schemes

The Company currently operates four Share Option Schemes:

i. Inland Revenue Unapproved Share Option Scheme (“the 1990 Unapproved Scheme”)

This option scheme was terminated in 2000 following the tenth anniversary of its adoption by the Company in 

general meeting in June 1990. The last options granted in 1999 remain exercisable until October 2006. There are 

currently three Non-executive Directors holding share options under this Unapproved Scheme.

During the year 1,500,000 ordinary shares were issued on the exercise of options.

ii. China Executive Share Option Scheme (“China Scheme”)

The China Scheme is also an unapproved share scheme and was adopted by the Board on 28 May 1997. China 

Scheme options will lapse if they have not been exercised within 10 years of their date of grant and also on 

termination of an option holder’s employment with the Group. The date of grant of the first and latest award of 

options under the China Scheme was in October 1999.

These two share option schemes do not comply with current best practice, as there were no performance criteria 

linked to the schemes (it was not market practice for the schemes to impose performance criteria at the time the 

grants were made). Grants of share options are made at the discretion of the Committee.

Following approval by shareholders at the AGM in June 2004, the Company adopted two new Employee Share Option 

Schemes. One scheme is approved by the Inland Revenue and the other is operated as an unapproved scheme.

The share options under both the 2004 Approved and Unapproved Schemes were granted by the Trustees of the 

Company’s Employee Benefit Trust on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee of the Board.

iii. The Fortune Oil PLC 2004 UK Inland Revenue Approved Employee Share Scheme (the “2004 Approved

 Scheme”)

Participation under the Scheme is open to employees (including Executive Directors and qualifying employees 

working 75% of their time for a company in the Fortune Oil Group of companies) who do not have (or have not 
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had in the last 12 months) a material interest in the Company (i.e. more than 25% of the ordinary share capital). 

The exercise price is specified at the time the options are granted and must not be significantly less than their 

market value at that time. An option will normally be exercisable following the third anniversary of grant and before 

the tenth anniversary of its grant, provided the participant remains in employment and subject to satisfaction of 

the performance conditions set by the Remuneration Committee from time to time. The market value of shares 

for which a participant may hold unexercised options is limited to £30,000, calculated at the time the option is 

granted. In principle, an individual cannot be entitled to shares under option to a value of more than six times his 

earnings. The total number of shares over which options are granted in any ten year period (whether exercised or 

not), when added to all such options granted under all other share schemes of the Company including the Senior 

Executive Incentive Plan, shall not exceed 10% of the fully diluted ordinary share capital of the Company in issue at 

that time.

During the year options over 493,421 ordinary shares were granted to an employee. The options entitle the 

participant to exercise between 8 June 2008 and 7 June 2015. The exercise price is 6.08 pence per share and  

the option price set was the market value defined as the average of the quotations on the three dealing days 

before grant of the option. The exercise of all options granted under the 2004 Approved Scheme is conditional on 

the achievement of individual performance criteria determined by the Remuneration Committee.

The personal performance conditions applying to all options are reviewed at the end of the performance period 

and are not re-tested. As an all-employee scheme approved by the Inland Revenue (now HM Revenue & Customs), 

there are no financial performance conditions attaching to the exercise of options.

iv. The Fortune Oil PLC 2004 Unapproved Employee Share Scheme (the “2004 Unapproved Scheme”)

The principal terms of the 2004 Unapproved Scheme are the same as the Approved Scheme set out above 

excepted as noted below:

The statutory limit of £30,000 worth of share options per participant will not apply. However, no participant will 

receive options worth more than one times their annual salary in any one year and no participant shall receive an 

option whereby the number of shares received under this scheme when aggregated with the shares under any 

other scheme including the Senior Executive Incentive Plan exceeds 3.5% of the issued ordinary share capital of 

the Company, from time to time. The exercise price on grant may be set at a level other than the market value 

of the shares at the time of grant of the option. In principle, an individual cannot receive options if he would be 

entitled to shares under option to a value of more than six times of his earnings.

During the year options over 5,736,579 ordinary shares were granted to 17 employees (none of whom were 

Directors). The options entitle the participants to exercise between 8 June 2008 and 7 June 2015. The exercise 

price is 6.32 pence per share. Options were granted at the closing price prevailing at the date of grant. The 

exercise of all options granted under the 2004 Unapproved Scheme is conditional on the achievement of individual 

performance criteria determined by the Remuneration Committee.

The personal performance conditions applying to all options are reviewed at the end of the performance period 

and are not re-tested. The Company operates this 2004 Unapproved Scheme for all employees and there are no 

financial performance conditions attaching to the exercise of options.
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6. Long term incentives – The Fortune Oil PLC 2004 Senior Executive Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and amended 

 Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)

The Plan is operated by the Trustees of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust, subject to the rules of the LTIP 

approved by the shareholders on 7 December 1999 and as amended on 25 June 2004.

The specific aim of the Plan is to motivate individuals to achieve profitable and sustainable growth for the Company 

by giving them an opportunity to accumulate a meaningful participation in the share capital of the Company, as 

a reward for achieving outstanding returns for shareholders. Executive Directors in Fortune Oil PLC and certain 

senior executives of various subsidiaries of the Group are eligible to participate in the Plan, at the discretion of the 

Remuneration Committee.

Under the Plan, these eligible employees are eligible to receive awards of a number of shares, the vesting of which is 

contingent on specified performance targets and continued employment with the Group.

On 23 June 2005 it was announced that options had been granted to five Executive Directors under the Plan. Four 

Senior Executives were also granted options under the Plan. The Directors to whom awards were made under the 

Plan were Bruce McGOWAN, LI Ching, John PEXTON, Louisa HO and GONG Min. Bruce McGOWAN resigned from 

the Board on 24 April 2006 and accordingly his rights to shares under the Plan have lapsed as he ceased to be a 

participant before the first anniversary of the grant. The total notional bonuses awarded to the four Executive Directors 

will be £61,242 if each Director is assessed as having reached “good” personal performance targets and will be 

£122,483 if each Director reaches “exceptional” personal performance targets.

Each option is a nil cost option over 1p ordinary shares in the Company and the number of shares to which the 

individual is entitled will vary. Each award is subject to the satisfaction of personal performance targets and may be 

enhanced if the Company meets certain performance targets.

The number of shares over which options have been granted is the number of shares which a notional bonus could 

buy on the first anniversary of the date of grant of the option. The notional bonus may increase if a Director’s personal 

performance is assessed as being “good” or “exceptional”. The Company’s Remuneration Committee will determine 

whether each Director’s personal performance for the year from 1 June 2005 to 31 May 2006 is acceptable, good or 

exceptional.

The options will only be exercisable after three years and will lapse after the tenth anniversary of grant if not exercised 

before that date. When an option is exercised on or after the third anniversary of the grant then the number of shares 

under the option will be increased according to whether the Company has met certain performance criteria in the 

three year period to June 2008. The Company’s performance criteria are weighted 60% in respect of increased profits 

after tax (and before exceptionals) (“PATBE”) and 40% in respect of total shareholder return (“TSR”). TSR is measured 

as being the increase in share value plus all dividends paid.  In relation to TSR, the performance of the Company 

is considered to be “good” where TSR increases by above 15 per cent per annum on average and “exceptional” 

performance is where TSR is above 20 per cent per annum on average. In relation to PATBE, the performance of the 

Company is considered to be “good” where PATBE increases by 15 per cent or more on average per annum and 

“exceptional” performance is where PATBE increases by 20 per cent or more on average per annum. 
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There were no comparator group companies or sectors whose performance were considered appropriate or could be 

used to benchmark the performance of management. These performance criteria were chosen by the Remuneration 

Committee after consultation with the Company’s financial and legal advisers. The Remuneration Committee is 

satisfied that these criteria represent a challenging and transparent financial measure which can be calculated from 

published accounting information.

The increase in the number of shares covered by the options as a result of good or exceptional Company performance 

will be calculated as follows:

 Increase in notional bonus for Increase in notional bonus for

Date of Exercise Good Company Performance Exceptional Company Performance

On or after 3rd anniversary 
 but before 4th anniversary  20% 40%

On or after 4th anniversary 
 but before 5th anniversary 40% 100%

 On or after 5th anniversary  100% 200%

The LTIP is designed to operate for a maximum of 10 years from 1999 and was adopted at the Company’s 

extraordinary general meeting held on 7 December 1999. It is operated in conjunction with an Employee Benefit Trust. 

The LTIP rules provide that the maximum number of shares awarded shall not exceed 7% of the issued ordinary share 

capital of Fortune Oil PLC, from time to time. The LTIP rules also prevent individuals from receiving shares if their 

cumulative award would exceed 3.5% of the issued ordinary shares of Fortune Oil PLC, from time to time. The LTIP 

(as amended in 2004) permits the grant of share options pursuant to the rules of the LTIP. 

A total of 60,000,000 ordinary shares continue to be held by JTC Trustees Limited, the Trustee of the Company’s 

Employee Benefit Trust. At 31 December 2005, the market value of the 60,000,000 shares was £3,528,000.  

(31 December 2004: 60,000,000 shares, £5,478,000). It is intended that these shares will be used to settle any 

options or awards exercised under any of the 2004 Approved Scheme, the 2004 Unapproved Scheme and the LTIP.

Policy on external appointments

Generally Executive Directors may accept external appointments as Non-executive Directors of other companies and 

retain any related fees paid to them. These appointments must not be with a competing company and their duties must 

not materially dilute or adversely affect the Executive Director’s contribution under the terms of his/her appointment with 

the Group. Directors may usually retain payments arising from such appointments.

Service Contracts and Termination Policy

No Directors have a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries. The Remuneration Committee believes that 

a service contract would not be in the best interests of the Group since it provides for pre-determined amounts of 
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compensation on termination of contract. The Company applies the principle of mitigation in the event of early termination 

on its own particular merit. The Committee expects Directors and Senior Executives to mitigate any losses arising on 

termination but will tailor its approach to individual cases.

With the exception of Daniel CHIU and LI Ching, all Directors have letters of engagement or appointment. All Directors are 

subject to retirement by rotation every three years in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors are appointed by letters of appointment and do not have contracts of service or contracts for 

services. They are appointed for a three-year term and may be appointed for further fixed period subject to the articles 

of association of the Company, after which an appointment can be renewed by the agreement of the Board. Each 

appointment is terminable on one month’s notice by either the Director concerned or the Company with no predetermined 

compensation amount on termination.

 Date of Date of
Non-executive appointment current letter  Notice

 Directors to the Board of Appointment Expiry Date period

Dennis CHIU 9-Aug-1993 29-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

Ian TAYLOR (note) 9-Aug-1993 29-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

FENG Xuechang 9-Aug-1993 24-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

LI De  28-May-1997 24-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

QIAN Benyuan  28-May-1997 24-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

Trevor BEDFORD  8-Feb-1999 29-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

YANG Chunshu 6-Jul-2000 24-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

ZHI Yulin 30-Nov-2000 24-Oct-2003 26-Oct-2006 1 month

WANG Jinjun 26-Nov-2003 18-Nov-2003 19-Nov-2006 1 month

 LI Anxi 22-June-2005 22-June-2005 21-June-2006 1 month

Note: Ian TAYLOR became a Non-executive Director on 24 June 1996. He was an Executive Director between 9 August 1993 and  

23 June 1996.

Policy on Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman

The policy on remuneration of Non-executive Directors is determined by the Board, by reference to practice in companies 

similar in size to the Company. The fees payable to Non-executive Directors are ratified by the Board after discussion 

between the Executive Directors. The level of fees is reviewed against market practice and takes into account market 

rates and the required time commitment. Non-executive Directors receive fixed fees plus reimbursement of expenses for 

attending Board and other meetings. They are not eligible for performance-related bonuses or awards under the Company 

Long Term Incentive Plan or any of the Company’s 2004 share option schemes.
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The setting of the Chairman’s remuneration is the responsibility of the Executive Directors and not the Remuneration 

Committee in accordance with the Combined Code B.2.2. The fees paid to the Chairman include his time for performing 

his additional role on the Remuneration Committee.

All the Non-executive Directors apart from QIAN Benyuan, Trevor BEDFORD and WANG Jinjun, received no emoluments 

as an employee or Director in the financial year ended 31 December 2005.

Directors’ interests in Shares

According to the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 325 of the Companies Act 1985, as amended, 

the following Directors were the only Directors who held any interests, all of which are beneficial, in the ordinary shares of 

the Company at 31 December 2005:

 Ordinary Shares of 1p

  Note 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Executive Directors   

Daniel CHIU (1) 717,244,897 717,244,897

LI Ching (2)   16,174,537  10,469,387

John PEXTON (3)   237,607 –
 

Non-executive Directors

Dennis CHIU (1) 717,244,897  717,244,897

 Trevor BEDFORD    1,353,055           1,353,055

Note

(1) This figure represents a combined interest in ordinary shares held in the names of First Level Holdings Limited (“First Level”) 

(647,244,897 ordinary shares) and Goldman Sachs Securities (Nominees) Limited ILSEG ACCT (70,000,000 ordinary shares). First 

Level is a company in which the majority of shares are owned by Daniel CHIU, with the remaining shares being held by Dennis CHIU. 

The above interest of 717,244,897 shares relate to the same block of shares.

(2) On 15 June 2005, LI Ching acquired 4,405,150 ordinary shares at 6.75p each and on 12 July 2005 acquired 1,300,000 ordinary 

shares at 6.5p each. The 1,300,000 shares are held by Euroclear Nominees Limited EOC01 account.

(3) On 9 June 2005, John PEXTON acquired 237,607 ordinary shares at 6.25p each.

Ian TAYLOR, a Non-executive Director, is the President of the Vitol Group of Companies. Vitol Energy (Bermuda) Limited is a major 

shareholder in the Company, registered with 162,142,000 ordinary shares (representing 8.85% of the total issued share capital).

None of the other Directors held any interests in shares in the Company or the Group at 31 December 2005 or at  

31 December 2004.

There has been no change to the Directors’ interests in the period between 1 January 2006 and the date of this Report.
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Performance Graph

The graph below illustrates the total shareholder return (“TSR”) for Fortune Oil PLC over a five year period in respect of a 

holding of the Company’s shares and the TSR in respect of a hypothetical holding of shares of a similar kind and number 

by reference to which a broad equity market index is calculated. The Company is a constituent of the FTSE All-Share 

index, which is considered to be the most appropriate comparator group.

SECTION 2: INFORMATION SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Directors’ Emoluments

Details of emoluments of the Executive Directors and fees payable to Non-Executive directors are set out below:

    Benefits Total emoluments
 Amount	in	£’000	 Salary/Fees	 Bonus	 (Note	1) 2005 2004

Executive Directors     

Daniel CHIU 15 – 3 18 14

Bruce McGOWAN 80 – – 80 80

LI Ching 39 – 13 52 37

John PEXTON (Note 2) 45 – 16 61 –

Louisa HO 72 – – 72 66

GONG Min (Note 2) 16 – 5 21 –

Non-executive Directors     

QIAN Benyuan (Note 3) 23 – – 23 –

Trevor BEDFORD 20 – – 20 20

 WANG Jinjun 5 – – 5 5

FTSE	All-Share	(Total	Return) Fortune	Oil	PLC
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The Directors except Bruce McGOWAN and Trevor BEDFORD are paid in Hong Kong dollars (HK$) and/or Renminbi 

(RMB). The average exchange rate used for the year was £1:HK$13.36 and £1:RMB14.90.

Note

1. The principal benefits are the provision of an accommodation allowance, club membership fees, car park allowance and reimbursed 

driver expenses.

2. Emoluments from date of appointment to the Board on 22 June 2005.

3. Mr QIAN served previously as a nominated representative from CEIEC, one of the major shareholders in Fortune Oil PLC. Following his 

retirement from CEIEC, he has formally joined Fortune Oil PLC from 1 June 2005 and received an annual fee of HK$540,000  

(i.e. £40,000).

No other Directors received any remuneration. None of the Directors receive any pension contributions. No payments 

were made during 2005 or 2004 in connection with retirement benefits, compensation for loss of office to past Directors 

and to third parties in respect of Director’s services.

Directors’ interests in share options

The following Directors hold options to acquire ordinary shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the terms of the 

1990 Unapproved Scheme and the China Scheme. No other Directors have any interest in options over the Company’s 

shares:

Options over ordinary shares of 1p

 Type of Number of shares Date
 option Date   Exercise from which Expiry

  scheme of grant At 31/12/2005 At 31/12/2004 price exercisable date

Executive Director       

Louisa HO China 01.11.1999 5,000,000  5,000,000 2.75p 01.11.2000 31.10.2009

Non-executive Directors

QIAN Benyuan  Unapproved 01.11.1999 1,000,000  1,000,000 2.75p 01.11.2000 31.10.2006

FENG Xuechang Unapproved 01.11.1999 1,000,000  1,000,000 2.75p 01.11.2000 31.10.2006

 LI De Unapproved 01.11.1999 1,000,000  1,000,000 2.75p 01.11.2000 31.10.2006

The consideration paid in respect of the grant of each of the options under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme was £1. No 

consideration was payable on the grant of any other of the above options.

No performance criteria are attached to the exercise of options granted under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme or China 

Scheme as they were established before performance conditions became a normal requirement.

Trevor BEDFORD exercised all his 1,500,000 share options (held under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme and granted to him 

on 1 November 1999) at 2.75p each on 13 July 2005. All of which were sold at the market price of the Company’s shares 

on the exercise date, which was 6.2567p each.



No Directors’ share options were granted during the year.

As detailed on page 37, notional bonuses have been awarded to LI Ching, John PEXTON, Louisa HO and GONG Min 

under the LTIP. As detailed in note 22 to the group financial statements, an expense has been recognised in relation to 

these share-based payments. 

There have been no changes in the Directors’ interest in share options between 1 January 2006 and the date of this 

Report.

The closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares at 31 December 2005 was 5.88p (2004: 9.13p). The highest and 

lowest closing prices for the shares during the year were 9.13p and 4.89p, respectively.

In accordance with the requirement of Section 241A of the Companies Act 1985, a resolution will be proposed at the 

Annual General Meeting on Wednesday, 21 June 2006 to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report. It is an advisory 

vote and the Board unanimously recommends that shareholders vote in favour of the approval of this Report.

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 12 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by:                 

WANG Jinjun

Chairman, Remuneration Committee
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Company law in the United Kingdom requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for  

that period. 

The Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and 

have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards.

In preparing each of the Group and Parent Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by  

the EU;

• for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed; 

and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to assume that the Group and 

the Parent Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company and the Group maintain proper accounting records which 

disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the 

financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 

Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the Group’s 

website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements and 

other information included in annual reports may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

statement of directors’ responsibilities for 
the financial statements
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We have audited the group financial statements on pages 47 to 79. These group financial statements have been 

prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Fortune Oil pLc for the year ended  

31 December 2005 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been 

audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the companies 

Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s shareholders those matters we 

are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 

not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s shareholders as a body, for 

our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted for use in the European Union are set 

out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements 

and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the 

group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the 

IAS Regulation. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the group financial 

statements, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified 

by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance Statement reflects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions  

of the 2003 FRc combined code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and  

we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks 

and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and 

control procedures. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited  

group financial statements. The other information comprises only the project portfolio, the company profile, the 

chairman’s Statement, the chief Executive’s Review, the Operating and Financial Review, the board of Directors, the 

Report of the Directors, the corporate governance statement and the part of the Remuneration Report that is described 

as being unaudited. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or 

material inconsistencies with the group financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

independent auditors’ report to the 
shareholders of Fortune Oil pLc
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independent auditors’ report to the 
shareholders of Fortune Oil pLc

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 

practices board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in 

the group financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the 

Directors in the preparation of the group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary 

in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the group financial statements are 

free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 

evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the group financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted for use in the 

European Union, of the state of affairs of the group as at 31 December 2005 and of its profit for the year then ended and 

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of 

the IAS Regulation.

RSM Robson Rhodes LLP

chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London, England

12 May 2006



group income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Amount in £’000 Note 2005  2004

Revenue including share of joint ventures 2 143,057  118,088

Share of revenue of joint ventures  (98,068	) (73,319 )

Group	revenue-continuing	operations  44,989  44,769

Cost of sales  (36,851	) (36,775 )

Gross	profit  8,138  7,994

Exceptional items 4 (629	) 801

Administrative expenses 4 (4,617	) (3,809 )

Share of results of joint ventures  2,810  1,970

Profit	from	operations  5,702	 6,956

Finance costs 5 (454	) (421 )

Investment income 6 156  109

Profit	before	taxation  5,404	 6,644

Taxation 7 (544	) (423 )

Profit	for	the	year  4,860	 6,221

Attributable	to

Equity shareholders  2,792  2,631

Minority interests 	 2,068  3,590

   4,860  6,221

Earnings	per	share

Basic 8 0.16p  0.17p

 Diluted 8 0.16p  0.17p
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group statement of changes in equity

   Share        Total
  Ordinary  premium  Treasury  Translation  Retained  Shareholders’  Minority  Total

Amount in £’000 shares  account  shares  reserve  earnings  equity  interests  Equity

Group

Balance at 1 January 2004 14,272  26,498  (690 ) –  (23,471 ) 16,609  9,046  25,655

Issue of share capital 4,064  10,820  –  –  –  14,884  –  14,884

Movement in treasury shares –  –  (35 ) –  –  (35 ) –  (35 )

Currency translation differences  – Group –  –  –  (775 ) –  (775 ) (613 ) (1,388 )

 – joint ventures –  –  –  (1,207 ) –  (1,207 ) –  (1,207 )

Profit for the year –  –  –  –  2,631  2,631  3,590  6,221

Dividend paid –  –  –  –  –  –  (1,535 ) (1,535 )

Balance at 31 December 2004 18,336  37,318  (725 ) (1,982 ) (20,840 ) 32,107  10,488  42,595

Issue of share capital 15  26  –  –  –  41  –  41

Movement in treasury shares –  –  (35 ) –  –  (35 ) –  (35 )

Currency translation differences  – Group –  –  –  2,062  –  2,062  1,489  3,551

 – joint ventures –  –   – 1,982  –  1,982  –  1,982

Profit for the year –  –  –  –  2,792  2,792  2,068  4,860

Share-based payments –  –  –  –  63  63  –  63

Dividend paid –  –  –  –  –  –  (2,319 ) (2,319 )

 Balance	at	31	December	2005	 18,351		 37,344		 (760	)	 2,062		 (17,985	)	 39,012		 11,726		 50,738

Included in the profit and loss account is £1,131,000 (2004: £1,086,000) Reserve Fund which is not distributable to 

shareholders.
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group balance sheet
as at 31 December 2005

Amount in £’000 Note 2005  2004

Assets
Non-current	assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 26,747  16,705
Investment properties 10 1,800  1,438
Goodwill 11 1,074  968
Other intangible assets 12 914  947
Investments in joint ventures 13 19,410  16,908
Other investments 13 117  121
Other receivables 14 –  2,279

   50,062  39,366

Current	assets
Inventories 15 2,151	 1,523
Trade and other receivables 16 6,272  5,035
Cash and cash equivalents  11,713  16,086

  20,136  22,644

 Total	assets  70,198  62,010

Liabilities
Current	liabilities
Borrowings 19 1,944	 2,651
Trade and other payables 17 9,813  10,279
Current tax liabilities 18 241  110

  11,998  13,040

Non-current	liabilities
Borrowings 19 7,126  6,021
Deferred tax liabilities 20 336  354

  7,462	 6,375

Total liabilities  19,460  19,415

	 Net	assets  50,738  42,595

Shareholders’	equity
Ordinary shares 21 18,351  18,336
Treasury shares 23 (760	) (725 )
Share premium account  37,344  37,318
Translation reserve 23 2,062  (1,982 )
Retained earnings  (17,985	) (20,840 )

Total shareholders’ equity  39,012  32,107
Minority interests  11,726  10,488

	 Total	equity  50,738  42,595

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 12 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Li	Ching	 Louisa	Ho

Director Director

The notes on pages 51 to 79 form part of these financial statements.

49 Fortune Oil PLC  annual report



50 Fortune Oil PLC  annual report

group cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Amount in £’000 2005  2004

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Profit after tax 4,860  6,221

Adjustments for:

 Share of post-tax results of joint ventures (2,810	) (1,970 )

  Taxation 544  423

 Amortisation and depreciation 2,419	 2,021

 Impairment 158  –

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 803  163

 Share-based payments 63	 –

 Investment income (156	) (109 )

 Finance costs 454	 421

 Increase in inventory (413	) (570 )

 Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 2,076	 (740 )

 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (1,859	) 263

Cash generated from operations 6,139	 6,123

Investment income 156	 109

Finance costs (454	) (421 )

Taxation paid (545	) (514 )

Net cash from operating activities 5,296	 5,297

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities

Dividend received from a joint venture 1,496	 1,042

Payments for property, plant and equipment (7,383	) (1,298 )

Payments for intangible assets (14	) (10 )

Payments for investment properties (187	) –

Receipt from disposal of property, plant and equipment 99  99

Acquisition of business/subsidiaries (3,273	) (1,531 )

Investment in a joint venture –  (370 )

Repayment of loan from a joint venture 794  399

Total cash flows used in investing activities (8,468	) (1,669 )

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital 41	 4,514

Expenses incurred in conversion of convertible loan stock –  (255 )

Loan from minority shareholders 478	 –

Dividend paid to minority shareholders (2,346	) (1,535 )

Repayment of loans (1,194	) (1,041 )

Total cash flows (used in)/from financing activities (3,021	) 1,683

Net	(decrease)/increase	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	 (6,193	) 5,311

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	the	year	 16,086	 11,548

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,820  (773 )

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	the	year	 11,713	 16,086
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notes to the group financial statements

General information

Fortune Oil plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the companies Act 1985. The address of the 

registered office is given on the back cover page. The nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities are set 

out in the Report of the Directors on page 22 and in the Operating and Financial Review on pages 8 to 19.

1. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS adopted for use in the European Union and 

therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation and with those parts of the companies Act 1985 that are 

applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The group has applied all accounting standards and interpretations issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board and International Financial Reporting Interpretations committee relevant 

to its operations and effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2005. Accounting standards and interpretations in issue 

at the date of authorisation of the financial statements but not yet effective are not expected to have a material impact on 

the financial statements of the group. An explanation of the transition from accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United Kingdom (UK gAAp) to IFRS is set out in note 29.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain properties. 

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the company and its subsidiary undertakings and 

include the results of joint ventures and associates. The results and net assets of undertakings acquired or disposed 

of during a financial year are included in the group income statement and balance sheet from the effective date of 

acquisition or to the effective date of disposal. Subsidiary undertakings have been consolidated using the acquisition 

method of accounting and joint ventures and associated undertakings are included in accordance with the accounting 

policies noted below.

Investments in the PRC

In respect of major infrastructure projects, the group’s investment in an undertaking in the pRc is made with one or more 

other parties under a “joint venture” arrangement, with the parties involved taking an agreed interest in the issued share 

capital of the undertaking. The arrangement is intended to provide necessary financial and operational support to the 

project as well as providing strong local connections and typically an arrangement will include at least one representative 

from the pRc. The arrangement is supported by a “joint venture agreement” between the parties that specifies the terms 

of the arrangement, including details regarding the structure and composition of the board of directors and practical 

working arrangements. The amount of equity interest and the terms of the joint venture agreement will generally determine 

whether the investment is recorded as a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, primarily based on the control of the board 

and the ability to control the strategic financial and operating policies of the undertaking.



52	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

notes to the group financial statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Subsidiary undertakings

The group’s interest in subsidiary undertakings comprises investments in undertakings where the group either holds 

in excess of 50 per cent of the issued share capital of the undertaking and owns more than half of the voting power or 

where the group has the power to control the strategic, financial and operating policies of the undertaking concerned. 

Joint ventures

The group’s interests in joint ventures comprise investments in undertakings where the group normally owns between 

20 per cent and 50 per cent of the voting power of the undertaking and where the group shares in the control of the 

strategic financial and operating policies of the undertaking concerned by agreement but does not exercise the level of 

control for the undertaking to be regarded as a subsidiary. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of 

accounting.

Associates

The group’s interests in associates comprise investments in undertakings where the group normally holds between 

20 per cent and 50 per cent of the issued capital of the undertaking and where the group shares in the control of the 

strategic financial and operating policies of the undertaking concerned but does not reach the level of shared control 

required to be accounted for as a joint venture. Associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 

Other investments

Investments are recorded at cost.

Goodwill

goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value to the group of the net assets and any 

contingent liabilities acquired. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004, goodwill is included on the basis of its 

deemed cost which represents the amount recorded previously under UK gAAp stated after amortisation.

From 1 January 2004, goodwill is no longer amortised but is reviewed annually for impairment. prior to 1 January 1998, 

goodwill was written off to reserves in the year of acquisition. In the period from 1 January 1998 to 31 December 2003 

goodwill arising on acquisition was capitalised and amortised over its estimated economic life.

Property, plant and equipment

property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives as follows: 

Motor vehicles, fixtures and fittings 3 to 6 years

Single point mooring buoy and related equipment 6 to 18 years (over the term of the contract)

leasehold property/improvements over the leasehold period

lpg tanks and facilities 20 years

land use rights 18 years

Storage tanks and jetty 3 to 38 years

pipelines 20 to 30 years (over the term of the contract)
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1. Accounting policies continued

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation and are stated at 

fair value at the balance sheet date. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal 

of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets which principally comprise land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation which 

is charged to the income statement over the estimated life of the intangible asset.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

The carrying amount of the group’s assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 

indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 

recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised 

in the income statement.

Leasing

The group as lessor:

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The group as lessee:

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Inventories

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises both current and deferred tax. current tax is the expected tax payable 

on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any 

adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, 

providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 

and the amounts used for taxation purposes. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 

future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

notes to the group financial statements
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1. Accounting policies continued

Foreign currencies

The functional and presentation currency of Fortune Oil plc is pounds sterling. The functional currencies of overseas 

operations are the Hong Kong dollar and chinese renminbi. As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of overseas 

operations are retranslated into the presentation currency of Fortune Oil plc at the rate of exchange ruling at the 

balance sheet date and their income statements are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. The exchange 

differences arising on the retranslation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign 

operation, the cumulative amount recognise in equity relating to that particular foreign operation shall be recognised in the 

income statement.

The group has elected not to record cumulative translation differences arising prior to the transition date as permitted by 

IFRS 1. In utilising this exemption, all cumulative translation differences are deemed to be zero as at 1 January 2004 and 

all subsequent disposals of subsidiaries shall exclude any transaction differences arising prior to the date of transition.

Financial instruments

Trade receivables and payables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for 

estimated irrecoverable amounts. Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

Financial liability and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 

entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after 

deducting all of its liabilities.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for 

goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes. In respect of 

oil trading transactions, where the group does not act as the principal then only management fees and commission are 

recognised as revenue.

The group undertakes some construction contract work within its natural gas business. When the outcome of a 

construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of 

completion of the contract, as measured by the proportion of total costs at the balance sheet date to the estimated total 

cost of the contract. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 

recognised immediately.

notes to the group financial statements
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1. Accounting policies continued

Share-based payments

The cost of providing share-based payments to employees is charged to the income statement over the vesting period 

of the related share options or share allocations. The cost is based on the fair value of the options or shares granted and 

the number of awards expected to vest. The fair value of each option is determined using an appropriate pricing model at 

the date of granting. Market related performance conditions are reflected in the fair value of the share. Non-market related 

performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the number of awards expected to vest.

Treasury shares

company shares held by the Employee Share Ownership plan (ESOp) Trust are presented within reserves until such time 

as the interest in shares is transferred unconditionally to the employees. costs of administering the Trust are charged to 

the profit and loss account as incurred.

Pensions

The group does not operate any pension schemes that carry obligations similar to defined benefit arrangements. 

contributions to social benefits for employees are charged to profit and loss account as incurred.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 

seldom equal the related actual results. The main estimates and judgements that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

a) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. This requires the use of certain estimates 

regarding future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate.

b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The group reviews the carrying value of property, plant and equipment each year to ascertain if there are any indications 

of impairment. This assessment, and any impairment testing, requires the use of certain judgements and estimates 

regarding the future cash flows expected to arise form the asset.

c) Investments in joint ventures

The group reviews annually the carrying value of its investments in joint ventures in order to ascertain whether there are 

any indications of impairment. This requires the use of estimates regarding future cash flows expected to arise from the 

joint venture and a suitable discount rate.

notes to the group financial statements
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2. Segmental Reporting

For management purposes, the group is currently organised into four major divisions. These divisions are the basis on 

which the group reports its primary segment information. 

a) Business segments

	 Continuing

 Single point   Oil trading  Central
 mooring facility Aviation Natural Gas & storage* Others** administration Group

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004		 2005		 2004		 2005 	 2004		 2005 	 2004		 2005 	 2004		 2005		 2004		 2005		 2004

Revenue including share 

 of joint ventures 11,810  11,874  92,899  68,775  5,685  3,064  28,258  30,635  4,405  3,740  –  –  143,057  118,088

Share of revenue of 

 joint ventures –  –  (92,899 ) (68,775 ) –  –  (814 ) (823 ) (4,355 ) (3,721 ) –  –  (98,068 ) (73,319 )

Group revenue 11,810  11,874  –  –  5,685  3,064  27,444  29,812  50  19  –  –  44,989  44,769 

Profit from operations 

 (including share of 

 results of joint ventures) 4,456  6,069  2,336  1,382  137  (316 ) (749 ) (1 ) 143  519  (621 ) (697 ) 5,702  6,956 

Finance costs                         (454 ) (421 )

Investment income                         156  109

Profit before taxation                         5,404  6,644 

Taxation                         (544 ) (423 )

Profit for the year                         4,860  6,221 

Attributable to

Equity shareholders                         2,792  2,631

Minority interests                         2,068  3,590

capital additions 3,223  499  –  –  7,298  2,159  335  180  –  –  2  1  10,858  2,839

Depreciation and 

 amortisation 1,547  1,259  –  –  565  328  306  434  –  –  1  –  2,419  2,021 

Impairment –  –  –  –  –  –  158  –  –  –  –  –  158  –

Net assets: by class 

 of business

Assets 17,841  17,440  16,318  13,800  20,240  13,582  15,588  16,706  129  128  82  354  70,198  62,010 

liabilities (3,239 ) (3,250 ) (14 ) (15 ) (5,421 ) (3,821 ) (10,657 ) (11,880 ) (2 ) (2 ) (127 ) (447 ) (19,460 ) (19,415 )

  14,602  14,190  16,304  13,785  14,819  9,761  4,931  4,826  127  126  (45 ) (93 ) 50,738  42,595

b) Geographical operations

With the exception of operating loss of £545,000 (2004: £636,000) in respect of central administration in the United 

Kingdom, all of the group’s activities are carried out in the pRc and Hong Kong. The Directors are of the opinion that the 

pRc and Hong Kong form one geographic segment.

* Includes overheads in Hong Kong/pRc offices.

** Others include distribution.

notes to the group financial statements
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3. Staff costs

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Staff costs, including directors:

Wages and salaries 1,610  1,314 

Social security costs 16  16

Share-based payments 63  –

  1,689  1,330 

Number	 2005			 2004

The average monthly number of employees during the year, including directors:

Management and administration 159  121

Engineering and operations 261  165

Oil trading, marketing and project development 155  174

  575  460

Directors’ emoluments

Details of Directors’ emoluments are set out below (none of which is related to performance):

	 Highest paid Director		 All Directors

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004		 2005		 2004

Fees –  –  48  25

Salaries and benefits 80  80  304  197

 Total 80  80  352  222

None of the Directors accrue retirement benefits under money purchase or defined benefit scheme.

Additional details of Directors’ emoluments are included in the Remuneration Report on page 41.

 

notes to the group financial statements



58	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

4. Operating profit

The operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,363  1,994

Amortisation of land use right 56  27

Diminution in value of investment property 158  –

Auditors’ remuneration – audit services 110  114

 – taxation – compliance 11  13

 – taxation – advisory 18  17

 – other non-audit services –  37

Operating lease rentals – land and buildings 321  240

 – plant and machinery –  76

loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 174  163

cost of inventories recognised as cost of sale 27,637  30,404

Exceptional items:

 Write back of creditors –  (801 )

  loss on disposal of a single point mooring buoy 629  –

5. Finance costs

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Finance costs:

on bank loans (149 ) (162 )

on other loans (305 ) (259 )

 Total finance costs (454 ) (421 )

6. Investment income

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Investment income:

on bank deposits 123  79

others 33  30

 Total investment income 156  109

notes to the group financial statements
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7. Taxation

The taxation charge for the year is analysed below:

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Current tax

UK tax –  –

Foreign tax 598  498

 Total current tax 598  498

Deferred tax

Net reversal of timing differences (54 ) (75 )

Total deferred tax (54 ) (75 )

 Tax on profit on ordinary activities 544  423

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax and is explained below.

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

 profit before taxation 2,594  4,674

Theoretical tax at the pRc corporation tax rate 33% 856  1,542

Effects of:

– lower or nil tax in the pRc (832 ) (1,340 )

– tax losses carried forward 575  360

– adjustments in respect of prior years –  (2 )

– other expenditure that is not tax deductible 173  69

– other timing differences (174 ) (131 )

 Total current tax 598  498

The above reconciliation uses a 33% standard rate of tax, being the standard rate of tax payable in the pRc, where the 

majority of the group’s activities take place.

The group had available losses of £65,000 as at 31 December 2005 (2004: £81,000) and capital losses of £762,000  

as at 31 December 2005 and 2004.

The group tax charge above does not include any amounts for joint ventures, whose results are disclosed in the income 

statement net of tax.

No provision has been made for taxation which would arise on the distribution of profits retained by overseas subsidiary 

undertakings or joint ventures, on the basis that the company is able to control the remittance of profit.

notes to the group financial statements
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8. Earnings per share

Earnings per share have been calculated on the earnings activities after taxation and minority interest of £2,792,000.  

(2004: £2,631,000) 

	 2005		 2005		 2004		 2004
	 No.	 	 	 	 No.

	 ’000  pence	 	 ’000	 	 pence

Basic 1,774,293  0.16  1,583,164  0.17

Share option adjustment 8,618  –  9,296  –

 Diluted 1,782,911  0.16  1,592,460  0.17

notes to the group financial statements
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9. Property, plant and equipment 

 Group   Motor  Single  Short  Long
  Assets in  vehicles,  point  Leasehold  Leasehold    Storage
  the course of  fixtures  mooring  property &  property &  LPG tanks  tank

Amount	in	£’000 construction  & fittings  buoy  improvements  improvements  & facilities  & jetty  Pipelines  Total

Cost

At 1 January 2004 1,009  2,167  16,601  2,688  102  2,665  2,053  4,166  31,451 

Exchange rate differences (68 ) (106 ) (1,124 ) (176 ) (7 ) (157 ) (139 ) (268 ) (2,045 )

Transferred to other 
 intangible assets –  –  –  (901 ) –  –  –  –  (901 )

Transferred to 
 investment properties –  –  –  (42 ) (95 ) –  (1,914 ) –  (2,051 )

Acquisition of 
 business assets –  –  –  –  –  –  –  1,531  1,531 

Additions 318  225  408  244  –  103  –  –  1,298 

Disposals –  (186 ) (128 ) –  –  –  –  –  (314 )

Reclassification (279 ) –  –  257  –  22  –  –  –

At 31 December 2004 980  2,100  15,757  2,070  –  2,633  –  5,429  28,969

Exchange rate differences 130  354  1,826  311  –  338  –  1,216  4,175

Acquisition of business
 assets –  130  –  129  –  –  –  2,968  3,227

Additions 2,512  1,493  3,217  22  –  33  –  106  7,383

Disposals –  (14 ) (2,352 ) (99 ) –  –  –  –  (2,465 )

Reclassification (2,337 ) –  –  332  –  46  –  1,959  –

 At 31 December 2005 1,285  4,063  18,448  2,765  –  3,050  –  11,678  41,289

Depreciation

At 1 January 2004 –  1,267  7,564  937  5  1,865  523  47  12,208

Exchange rate differences –  (54 ) (566 ) (70 ) –  (109 ) (42 ) (10 ) (851 )

Transferred to other 
 intangible assets –  –  –  (415 ) –  –  –  –  (415 )

Transferred to 
 investment properties –  –  –  1  (10 ) –  (604 ) –  (613 )

charge for the year –  138  1,208  161  5  114  123  245  1,994

Disposals –  (59 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  (59 )

At 31 December 2004 –  1,292  8,206  614  –  1,870  –  282  12,264

Exchange rate differences –  156  924  67  –  270  –  61  1,478

charge for the year –  218  1,502  150  –  107  –  386  2,363

Disposals –  (8 ) (1,530 ) (25 ) –  –  –  –  (1,563 )

 At 31 December 2005 –  1,658  9,102  806  –  2,247  –  729  14,542

Net book value

 At 31 December 2005 1,285  2,405  9,346  1,959  –  803  –  10,949  26,747

 At 31 December 2004 980  808  7,551  1,456  –  763  –  5,147  16,705

notes to the group financial statements
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10. Investment properties

Fair Value

Amount	in	£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2004 –

Transferred from property, plant and equipment 1,438

At 31 December 2004 1,438

Exchange differences 181

Transferred from other intangible assets 152

Additions 187

Impairment (158 )

 At 31 December 2005 1,800

The fair value of the group’s investment properties has been determined by reference to discounted cash flow projections. 

The property rental income earned by the group from its investment properties amounted to £108,000 (2004: £94,000). 

Direct operating expenses arising on the investment property amounted to £73,000 (2004: £57,000).

11. Goodwill

Amount	in	£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2004 1,035 

Exchange differences (67 )

At 31 December 2004 968

Exchange differences 106

At 31 December 2005 1,074

Accumulated impairment

At 1 January 2004, 31 December 2004, 31 December 2005 –

carrying amount

 At 31 December 2005 1,074 

 At 31 December 2004 968

goodwill arose upon the acquisition of Beijing Fortune Huiyuan gas company limited in 2003. The recoverable amount  

of the goodwill is based on value in use calculations which use cashflow projections discounted at a discount rate of 10%.

notes to the group financial statements



63	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

12. Other intangible assets

Amount	in	£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2004 511

Exchange differences (33 )

Transferred from property, plant and equipment 901

Additions 10

At 31 December 2004 1,389

Exchange differences 182

Transferred to investment properties (208 )

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary 47

Additions 14

At 31 December 2005 1,424

Amortisation

At 1 January 2004 –

Transferred from property, plant and equipment 415

charge for the year 27

At 31 December 2004 442

Exchange differences 68

Transferred to investment properties (56 )

charge for the year 56

 At 31 December 2005 510

Net book value

 At 31 December 2005 914

 At 31 December 2004 947

Intangible assets with a carrying value of £560,000 (2004: £528,000) have been pledged as security for borrowings.

notes to the group financial statements
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13. Investments
 

The following are the company’s principal subsidiary undertakings:

	 	 	 Parent
	 	 	 and Group	
	 	 	 interest in
	 	 Country of	 ordinary	
	 	 incorporation	 shares		 Percentage	 Percentage	 Term of
	 	 and	 and voting		 share of	 control of	 initial	

Company	 operation	 rights	 profit	 board	 contract	 Nature of business

Maoming King Ming china 56% 40% 57.1% 20 years construction and
petroleum       operation of single  
company limited       point mooring facility

guangzhou Fortune Oil china 100% 100% 100% perpetual Trading in petroleum
company limited      products and investment
      in retail petrol stations
      in Beijing

Beijing Fortune Huiyuan  china 80% 80% 71.4% 30 years provision of natural gas
gas company limited      and operation of a gas
      station

luquan Fu Xin gas china 51% 51% 60% 30 years provision of piped
company limited      natural gas

Beijing Fuhua Dadi gas china 53% 53% 60% 30 years provision of piped
limited      natural gas

Qufu Fu Hua gas  china 61% 61% 60% 50 years provision of piped
company limited      natural gas

Shanxi Jingping Natural china 48% 48% 60% 20 years provision of piped
gas limited      natural gas

Tianjin Tianhui Natural china 48% 48% 60% 20 years provision of piped
gas limited      natural gas

Shuozhou Fu Hua Natural china 64% 64% 60% 20 years provision of piped
gas limited      natural gas

Zhanjiang Fu Duo gas china 57.5% 57.5% 57% 25 years Storage and distribution
 company limited      of lpg

All companies are held indirectly through subsidiary companies.

A full list of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is produced in the Annual Return.

Maoming King Ming petroleum company limited (MKM) is controlled through an arrangement where the foreign 

companies as an alliance in the arrangement own 70 per cent of the equity of MKM and are entitled to receive 50 per cent 

of its retained profits through annual and final distributions. Fortune itself owns 56 per cent of the equity of MKM and is 

entitled to 40 per cent of retained profits.
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notes to the group financial statements

13. Investments continued

cooperative joint venture agreements in the pRc infrastructure assets held by the various subsidiary companies above 

are structured over a fixed period which specifies that the fixed assets relating to the venture are transferred at £Nil to 

the corresponding pRc company with any residual net assets being divided between the parties as specified in the 

agreement.

MKM has been consolidated within these accounts on the basis that the group has the power, through its voting 

rights on the Board of Directors, to control the strategic financial and operating policies of the company and because 

of the continued level of benefits received. In order for the group to maintain MKM as a subsidiary company under the 

requirements of IFRS, which does not share the same concept of dominant influence as UK gAAp, changes were made 

to the voting structures and arrangements of the Board of Directors of MKM during 2005. These changes ensure that 

the group has the power to control MKM as a subsidiary company. The Directors have obtained legal opinion that the 

changes made to the voting arrangements, which were made through formal board resolutions and approval, have the 

effect of being binding on the underlying joint venture agreement terms and cannot be changed other than by further 

board resolutions – where the group now exercises majority control. The voting structures were changed during the year 

such that the group obtained formal confirmation from the one independent shareholder and MKM board member that 

they would always vote in accordance with the group on all Board matters. This change in voting structure gives Fortune 

majority control of the Board with three directors plus one connected director out of the total of seven directors.

During the year the group acquired the net assets and business from Beijing Dadi gas construction company limited at 

a value of £3,227,000. These assets and business were then transferred into Beijing Fuhua Dadi gas company limited. 

The net assets acquired comprised primarily tangible fixed assets at a book and fair value of £3,227,000.

Group Interest in  Net loans  Total
  joint  from joint  joint  Other

Amount	in	£’000	 ventures  ventures  ventures  investments

Share of net assets/cost

At 1 January 2004 16,802  406  17,208  138 

Exchange rate differences (1,180 ) (27 ) (1,207 ) (9 )

Advances/(repayment) –  (399 ) (399 ) –

Additions/(disposals) of investment 378  –  378  (8 )

Dividend (1,042 ) –  (1,042 ) –

Share of retained profit 1,970  –  1,970  – 

 At 31 December 2004 16,928  (20 ) 16,908  121 

Exchange rate differences 1,983  (1 ) 1,982  15

Advances/(repayment) –  (794 ) (794 ) –

Additions/(disposals) of investment –  –  –  (19 )

Dividend (1,496 ) –  (1,496 ) –

Share of retained profit 2,810  –  2,810  –

 At 31 December 2005 20,225  (815 ) 19,410  117
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13. Investments continued

Joint ventures

The followings are the group’s principal joint ventures:

	 Country of	 	 Percentage	 Percentage	 Term
	 incorporation	 	 share of		 control of	 of initial	 Group

Company	 and operation	 Principal activity	 profit	 board	 contract	 interest

South china Bluesky Aviation  china construction and 24.5% 25% 25 years 24.5%
Oil company limited  operation of aviation 
  oil storage and
  supply facilities

Zhuhai Special Economic Zone china Storage of petroleum 18.5% 33.3% 30 years 18.5%
South china petroleum  products and
company limited  operation of jetty

Jining Qufu New Fu Hong china provision of piped  50% 50% 30 years 50.0%
 gas limited  natural gas

As noted in the accounting policies, the companies where the group has an interest of less than 50 per cent are recorded 

as joint ventures in accordance with the terms of the underlying joint venture agreements. For the companies above,  

the control of strategic, financial and operating policies are shared between two or more parties that are involved in the 

joint venture.

Notes to Joint ventures

The group’s share of the results and net assets of its joint ventures is shown below:

	 2005	 2004

Amount	in	£’000	 Bluesky * Others  Total		 Bluesky	*	 Others		 Total

 Revenue                       92,899  5,169  98,068  68,775  4,544  73,319  

Expenses 90,112  4,665  94,777  67,224  3,900  71,124 

profit before tax 2,787  504  3,291  1,551  644  2,195 

 profit after tax 2,349  461  2,810  1,398  572  1,970 

Non-current assets 21,468  3,987  25,455  20,642  3,609  24,251

current assets 21,461  1,268  22,729  11,643  774  12,417

current liabilities (26,611 ) (1,331 ) (27,942 ) (18,480 ) (544 ) (19,024 )

  Non-current liabilities –  (17 ) (17 ) (5 ) (711 ) (716 )

 Net assets 16,318  3,907  20,225  13,800  3,128  16,928

* South china Bluesky Aviation Oil company limited

Bluesky’s fixed assets include goodwill of £1.2 million (2004: £2.7 million).
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14. Non-current assets: other receivables

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Debtors - amount falling due after more than one year

Other debtors –  2,279

  –  2,279

15. Inventories

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

 petroleum stocks 2,151  1,523 

16. Trade and other receivables

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Debtors – amount falling due within one year

Trade debtors 2,539  1,986

Bills receivables 82  –

Due from customer on construction contract 471  –

Other debtors 2,931  2,810

prepayments and accrued income 249  239

  6,272  5,035

17. Trade and other payables

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Trade creditors 2,661  2,327

Bills payable 904  –

Other creditors 3,671  5,891

Accruals and deferred income 2,577  2,061

  9,813  10,279

18. Current tax liabilities

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

 current tax liabilities 241  110



notes to the group financial statements

19. Borrowings

Current liabilities

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

 Bank loans 1,944  2,651

Non-current liabilities

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

loan from major shareholders 4,244  3,914

loan from equity minority interests 2,882  2,107 

  7,126  6,021 

 Total borrowings 9,070  8,672

loan from equity minority interests of £ 2,882,000 (2004: £2,107,000) are unsecured. Major shareholders and equity 

minority shareholders have confirmed that the above loans will not be recalled within the next 12 months.

Additional disclosures regarding borrowings are included in note 24.

20. Deferred tax liabilities

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

At 1 January 354  456

Exchange rate difference 36  (27 )

credited to profit and loss account (54 ) (75 )

 At 31 December 336  354

Deferred tax

Deferred tax comprises:

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

 Short-term timing difference 336  354

21. Share capital

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Authorised

2,400,000,000 ordinary shares of 1p each 24,000  24,000

Issued shares of 1p each fully paid

1,835,085,868 ordinary shares of 1p each 18,351  18,336

 (2004: 1,833,585,868 ordinary shares of 1p each) 
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22. Share-based payments

Analysis of share options as at 31 December 2005:

	 	 2005	 2004

	 	 		 Weighted		 		 Weighted
	 	 		 average		 		 average

	 Options  exercise price		 Options		 	exercise	price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 14,750,000  2.75p  22,750,000  4.02p

granted during the year 6,230,000  6.30p  –  –

Exercised during the year (1,500,000 ) 2.75p  (4,500,000 ) 2.75p

lapsed during the year –  –  (3,500,000 ) 11.00p

 Outstanding at the end of the year 19,480,000  3.89p  14,750,000  2.75p

 Exercisable at the end of the year 13,250,000  2.75p  14,750,000   2.75p

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 6.26 pence. 

The options outstanding at the end of the year have an exercise price in a range from 2.75 pence up to 6.32 pence and  

a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.8 years.

All awards under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme and the china Scheme (with details on page 35) were issued prior to  

7 November 2002. No share options were issued by the group between 7 November 2002 and 31 December 2004.  

On 8 June 2005, share options  were granted to certain employees under the “2004 Approved Scheme” and “2004 

Unapproved Scheme” (as detailed in the Remuneration Report on pages 35 and 36). These have been valued using a 

trinomial valuation model with the following assumptions:

Fair value at grant date 3.39p

Share price at grant date 6.32p

Exercise price 6.32p

Expected volatility 46.357%

Option life 10 years

Expected dividend yield  nil

Risk-free interest rate  4.145%

As detailed in the Remuneration Report on pages 37 and 38, certain awards have been made during the year under the 

long Term Incentive plan. As the awards are satisfied by the transfer of shares for no consideration, the fair values of 

those awards are based on the latest available share price of the company.

The group recognised total expenses of £63,000 (2004: £Nil) relating to share-based payment transactions during  

the year.
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23. Reserves

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 

of the pRc and Hong Kong operations.

Treasury shares

The shares are held by JTc Trustees limited as the trustee for future distribution to employees. Following the 

shareholders’ approval at the AgM on 25 June 2004, the 2004 Senior Executive Incentive plan (the “plan”) is currently 

operated by the trustee of the company’s Employee Benefit Trust, subject to the rules of the long Term Incentive plan 

as amended in 2004 (“lTIp”). There is a specified Remuneration committee policy in relation to the operation of the 

plan under the lTIp rules. Additional details are given in the Remuneration Report. At 31 December 2005 the investment 

represented 3.3 per cent (2004:3.3 per cent) of the called up ordinary share capital of Fortune Oil plc. The total number 

of shares held in the name of JTc Trustees limited is 60,000,000 (2004: 60,000,000). The market value of shares was 

£3,528,000 at 31 December 2005 (2004: £5,478,000). 

24. Financial Instruments

Foreign currency risk

The group operates primarily in the pRc and Hong Kong and is exposed to the risk of changes in currency exchange 

rates in these two countries. At present no foreign exchange hedging is undertaken by the group.

Interest rate risk

The group’s interest bearing debts are subject to floating rates of interest linked to lIBOR and the pRc prevailing 

borrowing rate. No interest rate hedging is currently undertaken by the group.

Credit risk

credit risk arises on financial instrument such as trade receivables. The group monitors credit risk by scrutinising 

customers’ profile and periodical review of aging of amount dues.

Effective interest rates

The group’s borrowings were subject to effective interest rates at the balance sheet date as follows:

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Non-interest bearing 1,237  2,107

Floating rate 7,833  6,565

  9,070  8,672
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24. Financial Instruments continued

Foreign currency exposure

The carrying amount of the group’s borrowings denominated in foreign currency is as follows:
    

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

US dollars 4,244  3,914

chinese renminbi 4,826  4,758

Hong Kong dollars –  –

  9,070  8,672

Fair values

The Directors do not consider the book and fair values of the group’s financial instruments at 31 December 2005 and  

31 December 2004 to be materially different.

Maturity profile of financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the group’s non-current borrowings is as follows:

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

One to two years 6,209  5,217

Between two and three years 917  804

Between three and five years –  –

After five years –  –

  7,126  6,021 

Borrowing facilities

The group pledged cash amounting to £1,686,000 (2004: £Nil) to secure banking facilities during the year.

The group has aggregate undrawn banking facilities amounting to £3,738,000 (2004: £2,330,000) of which £2,300,000 

expires in 2007 and £1,438,000 in 2006.
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25. Operating lease arrangements

The Group as Lessee:

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payment under non-

cancellable operating leases in respect of property, which fall due as follows: 

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 282  290

In two to five years 233  442

Over five years 123  143

  638  875

 

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payment under non-

cancellable operating leases (in respect of plant and equipments), which fall due as follows: 

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 5  7

In two to five years 10  14

  15  21

The Group as lessor:

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease receivables under non-

cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

commitments under operating lease (receivables)

Within one year 115  86

In two to five years 141  86

Over five years 294  –

  550  172

26. Capital commitments

	 	 2005	 2004
	 	 Commitments for	 Commitments	for
	 	 capital expenditure in	 capital	expenditure	in

Amount	in	£’000	 subsidiaries  joint ventures		 subsidiaries		 	joint	ventures

Outstanding at 31 December

contracted for but not provided for in 
  the financial statements 25  2,588  3,040  –
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27. Related party transactions and significant contracts

The group’s related parties, the nature of the relationship and the extent of transactions with them are summarised below:

 Amount in £’000 Sub note  2005  2004

loans from equity minority interests to subsidiaries 1  (2,882 ) (2,107 )

Other loans from major shareholders 2  (4,244 ) (3,914 )

Interest paid and payable to major shareholders 2  239  256

Trade account receivable from minority shareholders 3  1,479  853  

Shareholder loans to/(from) joint ventures 4  (815 ) (20 )

Interest received from joint venture 5  9  32

Trade account receivable from joint venture 6  –  –

 current account with Vitol Asia 7  97  85

Sub Notes

1.	 The	loans	included	£918,000	(2004:	£804,000)	from	the	corporate	shareholders	of	the	Group’s	subsidiary,	Zhanjiang	Fu	Duo	Gas	

Company	Limited	which	has	representatives	on	the	Board.	They	are	Zhanjiang	Gas	Company	(ZGC),	(with	20	per	cent	of	voting	

rights	and	share	capital)	and	Vitol	Asia	Pte	Ltd	(with	22.5	per	cent	of	voting	rights	and	share	capital).	The	loan	portions	from	these	

shareholders	were	£432,000	and	£486,000	respectively	(2004:	£378,000	and	£426,000).	The	loan	also	included	£1,964,000	(2004:	

£1,303,000)	from	the	minority	shareholders	of	Beijing	Fortune	Huiyuan	Gas	Company	Limited.	Except	for	£1,645,000	from	minority	

shareholders	of	Beijing	Fortune	Huiyuan	Gas	Company	Limited	which	is	interest	bearing,	they	are	unsecured,	interest	free	and	without	

fixed	payment	terms.

2.	 Other	loans	at	31	December	2005	were	from	the	major	shareholder	First	Level	Holdings	Limited	(FLHL)	£4,244,000	(2004:	

£3,914,000).	The	amount	due	is	unsecured,	interest	bearing	and	without	fixed	payment	term.	The	interest	paid	and	payable	to		

FLHL	was	£239,000	(2004:	£152,000).	The	interest	owed	at	31	December	2005	to	FLHL	was	£25,000	(2004:	£145,000).	

3.	 Maoming	Petrochemical	Corporation	(MPCC)	is	a	corporate	shareholder	of	the	Group’s	subsidiary,	Maoming	King	Ming	Petroleum	

Company	Limited	and	has	representatives	on	the	Board.	Throughputting	turnover	from	MPCC	and	port	charges	payable	to		

MPCC	amounted	to	£11,226,000	and	£3,014,000	respectively	(2004:	£11,557,000	and	£2,800,000).	£1,161,000	was	owed	at		

31	December	2005	(2004:	£575,000).	Turnover	from	ZGC	amounted	to	£Nil	(2004:	£97,000	).	£319,000	was	owed	at	31	December	

2005	(2004:	£278,000).	The	amount	due	from	ZGC	is	interest	free,	without	fixed	repayment	terms	and	is	secured	by	their	capital		

in	Fu	Duo.

4.	 The	shareholder	loans	are	part	of	shareholders’	investment	in	the	joint	ventures.	These	are	common	methods	of	making	an	

investment	in	joint-ventures	in	China.	£919,000	(2004:	£111,000)	was	due	to	South	China	Terminals	Limited	(SCT)	at	the	end	of	

2005.	The	amount	due	to	SCT	is	unsecured,	interest	free	and	without	fixed	repayment	terms.

5.	 Interest	amounting	£18,000	(2004:	£64,000)	received	from	the	joint	venture	in	China,	Zhuhai	Special	Economic	Zone	South	China	

Petroleum	Company	Limited	by	SCT.	50	per	cent	shared	by	the	Group	amounted	to	£9,000	(2004:	£32,000).

6.	 Sales	from	a	Group’s	subsidiary,	Guangzhou	Fortune	Oil	Company	Limited	to	the	joint	ventures,	Beijing	Petrol	Station	amounted	to	

£3,438,000	(2004:	£6,137,000).	There	was	no	trade	account	receivable	from	the	joint	venture	at	31	December	2005	(2004:	£Nil).

7.	 Current	account	due	from	Vitol	Asia	who	is	represented	on	the	Board,	was	£97,000.	(2004:	£85,000).

8.	 The	Group	has	entered	into	a	lease	agreement	dated	30	May	2003	with	Polyspring	Limited	(a	company	in	which	Daniel	Chiu	has	an	

interest	as	an	indirect	shareholder)	pursuant	to	which	the	Group	agreed	to	lease	office	space	from	Polyspring	Limited.	The	rent	of	

£10,000	was	paid	in	2005	(2004:	£43,000).	This	lease	agreement	was	for	a	period	of	one	year	and	was	renewed	on	30	May	2004	

with	a	new	lease	term	of	two	years	but	terminated	during	2005.
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27. Related party transactions and significant contracts continued

The group has the following investments in which Vitol Asia, (a company in which Ian Taylor has a material interest) has a 

share which may be summarised as follows:

– Vitol Asia owns 22.5 per cent of Zhanjiang Fu Duo gas company limited;

– Vitol Energy (Bermuda) owns 50.0 per cent of South china Terminals limited;

– Vitol Energy (Bermuda) owns 18.5 per cent of Zhuhai Special Economic Zone South china petroleum company limited.

Key management compensation is set out in note 3.

28. Post balance sheet events

a) West Zhuhai Terminal

In February 2006 the company announced its intention to acquire the combined interests held by the Vitol group  

in the West Zhuhai terminal and Fu Duo lpg business, subject to shareholders’ approval at an EgM. The agreed  

total consideration is US$5.7 million (£3.3 million) for the company to increase its effective shareholding in the West 

Zhuhai terminal from 18.5 per cent to 37 per cent and in Fu Duo from 57.5 per cent to 80 per cent. 

b) Capital Reduction

In April 2006, the company announced the proposed cancellation of its share premium account (“capital Reduction”). 

The capital Reduction will result in the elimination of the deficit on the company’s profit and loss accounts and subject 

to appropriate funds being available for the purpose, enables the company to commence payment of a dividend at the 

discretion of the Directors. The capital Reduction will be subject to the confirmation of the High court in England.

c) Coal Bed Methane

In April 2006 the company announced a conditional agreement to develop coal bed methane (cBM) gas reserves 

in the liulin block in Shanxi province, through forming a joint-venture with Molopo Australia limited (“Molopo”). The 

company and Molopo have agreed that, subject to approval by the Ministry of commerce, the foreign contractor rights 

in the production sharing contract (“pSc”) will be transferred by Molopo to Fortune liulin gas company limited and the 

exploration phase extended to 2008. Fortune Oil will commit US$2.5 million for further appraisal of this cBM block over 

the next 18 months and will be entitled to 60 per cent shareholding in the company.
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29. Reconciliation of group financial statements from UK GAAP to IFRS

group balance sheet
at 1 January 2004

 UK	GAAP		 		 		 		 Other		 UK	GAAP		 		Cumulative		
	 as	previously		 		 		 Investment		 intangible		 in	IFRS		 Goodwill		 exchange
Amount	in	£’000	 reported		 Debtors		 Creditors		 properties		 assets		 format		amortisation		 reserves

Fixed assets                   Non-current assets
Tangible assets 19,754  –  –  (1,438 ) (511 ) 17,805  –  –  17,805  Property, plant and equipment
Other intangible assets 1,035  –  –  –  –  1,035  –  –  1,035  Goodwill
Investment properties –  –  –  1,438  –  1,438  –  –  1,438  Investment properties
 –  –  –  –  511  511  –  –  511  Other intangible assets
Investment in joint ventures 17,208  –  –  –  –  17,208  –  –  17,208  Investments in joint ventures
Other investments 138  –  –  –  –  138  –  –  138  Other investments
 –  3,219  –  –  –  3,219  –  –  3,219  Other receivable

 38,135  3,219  –  –  –  41,354  –  –  41,354

Current assets                   Current assets
Stock 1,022  –  –  –  –  1,022  –  –  1,022  Inventory
Debtors: Amounts falling due after 
 more than one year  3,219  (3,219 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year 3,829  –  –  –  –  3,829  –  –  3,829  Trade and other receivables
Cash at bank and in hand 11,548  –  –  –  –  11,548  –  –  11,548  Cash and cash equivalents

 19,618  (3,219 ) –  –  –  16,399  –  –  16,399

 57,753  –  –  –  –  57,753  –  –  57,753  Total assets

                   Liabilities
                   Current liabilities
Creditors: 
 Amounts falling due within one year (30,363 ) –  10,598  –  –  (19,765 ) –  –  (19,765 ) Borrowings
 –  –  (10,463 ) –  –  (10,463 ) –  –  (10,463 ) Trade and other payables
 –  –  (135 ) –  –  (135 ) –  –  (135 ) Current tax liabilities

 (30,363 ) –  –  –  –  (30,363 ) –  –  (30,363)

                   Non-current liabilities
Creditors: 
 Amounts falling due after more than one year (1,279 ) –  –  –  –  (1,279 ) –  –  (1,279 ) Borrowings
Provision for liabilities and charges (456 ) –  –  –  –  (456 ) –  –  (456 ) Deferred tax liabilities

 (1,735 ) –  –  –  –  (1,735 ) –  –  (1,735)

 (32,098 ) –  –  –  –  (32,098 ) –  –  (32,098 ) Total liabilites

Net assets 25,655  –  –  –  –  25,655  –  –  25,655  Net assets

Capital and reserves                   Equity
Called up share capital 14,272  –  –  –  –  14,272  –  –  14,272  Ordinary shares
Investment in own shares (690 ) –  –  –  –  (690 ) –  –  (690 ) Treasury shares
Share premium account 26,498  –  –  –  –  26,498  –  –  26,498  Share premium account
Exchange reserves (4,572 ) –  –  –  –  (4,572 ) –  4,572  –  Translation reserve
Profit and loss account (18,899 ) –  –  –  –  (18,899 ) –  (4,572 ) (23,471 ) Retained earnings

Equity shareholders’ funds 16,609  –  –  –  –  16,609  –  –  16,609  Total equity shareholders’   
                   funds
Equity minority interests 9,046  –  –  –  –  9,046  –  –  9,046  Minority interests

 25,655  –  –  –  –  25,655  –  –  25,655  Total equity
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29. Reconciliation of group financial statements from UK GAAP to IFRS continued

group balance sheet
at 1 January 2005

 UK	GAAP		 		 		 		 Other		 UK	GAAP		 		Cumulative
	 as	previously		 		 		 Investment		 intangible		 in	IFRS		 Goodwill		 exchange
Amount	in	£’000	 reported		 Debtors		 Creditors		 properties		 assets		 format		amortisation	 reserves

Fixed assets                   Non-current assets
Tangible assets 19,090  –  –  (1,438 ) (947 ) 16,705  –  –  16,705  Property, plant and equipment
Other intangible assets 916  –  –  –  –  916  52  –  968  Goodwill
 Investment properties –  –  –  1,438  –  1,438  –  –  1,438  Investment properties
 –  –  –  –  947  947  –  –  947  Other intangible assets
 Investment in joint ventures 16,908  –  –  –  –  16,908  –  –  16,908  Investments in joint ventures
Other investments 121  –  –  –  –  121  –  –  121  Other investments
 –  2,279  –  –  –  2,279  –  –  2,279  Other receivable

 37,035  2,279  –  –  –  39,314  52  –  39,366

Current assets                   Current assets
Stock 1,523  –  –  –  –  1,523  –  –  1,523  Inventory
Debtors: 
 Amounts falling due after more than one year 2,279  (2,279 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year 5,035  –  –  –  –  5,035  –  –  5,035  Trade and other receivables
Cash at bank and in hand 16,086  –  –  –  –  16,086  –  –  16,086  Cash and cash equivalents

 24,923  (2,279 ) –  –  –  22,644  –  –  22,644

 61,958  –  –  –  –  61,958  52  –  62,010  Total assets

                   Liabilities
                   Current liabilities
Creditors: 
 Amounts falling due within one year (13,040 ) –  10,389  –  –  (2,651 ) –  –  (2,651 ) Borrowings
 –  –  (10,279 ) –  –  (10,279 ) –  –  (10,279 ) Trade and other payables
 –  –  (110 ) –  –  (110 ) –  –  (110 ) Current tax liabilities

 (13,040 ) –  –  –  –  (13,040 ) –  –  (13,040)

                   Non-current liabilities
Creditors: 
 Amounts falling due after more than one year (6,021 ) –  –  –  –  (6,021 ) –  –  (6,021 ) Borrowings
Provision for liabilities and charges (354 ) –  –  –  –  (354 ) –  –  (354 ) Deferred tax liabilities

 (6,375 ) –  –  –  –  (6,375 ) –  –  (6,375)

 (19,415 ) –  –  –  –  (19,415 ) –  –  (19,415 ) Total liabilites

Net assets 42,543  –  –  –  –  42,543  52  –  42,595  Net assets

Capital and reserves                   Equity
Called up share capital 18,336  –  –  –  –  18,336  –  –  18,336  Ordinary shares
Investment in own shares (725 ) –  –  –  –  (725 ) –  –  (725 ) Treasury shares
Share premium account 37,318  –  –  –  –  37,318  –  –  37,318  Share premium account
Exchange reserves (6,554 ) –  –  –  –  (6,554 ) –  4,572  (1,982 ) Translation reserve
Profit and loss account (16,320 ) –  –  –  –  (16,320 ) 52  (4,572 ) (20,840 ) Retained earnings

Equity shareholders’ funds 32,055  –  –  –  –  32,055  52  –  32,107  Total equity shareholders’   
                   funds
Equity minority interests 10,488  –  –  –  –  10,488  –  –  10,488  Minority interests

 42,543  –  –  –  –  42,543  52  –  42,595  Total equity

notes to the group financial statements
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29. Reconciliation of group financial statements from UK GAAP to IFRS continued

group income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2004

 UK GAAP      UK GAAP
 as previously    JV’s tax &  in IFRS  Goodwill
Amount in £’000 reported  Interest  interest  format  amortisation  IFRS

Turnover: group and share of joint ventures 118,088  –  –  118,088  –  118,088

Less: share of joint ventures’ turnover (73,319 ) –  –  (73,319 ) –  (73,319 )

Turnover 44,769  –  –  44,769  –  44,769  Revenue

Cost of sales (36,775 ) –  –  (36,775 ) –  (36,775 ) Cost of sales

Gross profit 7,994  –  –  7,994  –  7,994  Gross profit

Exceptional administrative expenses 801  –  –  801  –  801  Exceptional items

Other administrative expenses (3,861 ) –  –  (3,861 ) 52  (3,809 ) Administrative expenses

Total administrative expenses (3,060 ) –  –  (3,060 ) 52  (3,008 )

Group operating profit/(loss) 4,934  –  –  4,934  52  4,986  Operating profit

Share of operating profit in joint ventures 2,500  –  (530 ) 1,970  –  1,970  Share of results of joint   

             ventures

Total operating profit 7,434  –  (530 ) 6,904  52  6,956  Profit from operations

 –  (421 ) –  (421 ) –  (421 ) Interest payable

 –  109  –  109  –  109  Interest receivable

Total operating profit 7,434  (312 ) (530 ) 6,592  52  6,644  Profit before taxation

Net interest payable 

Group (312 ) 312  –  –  –  –

Share of joint ventures (305 ) –  305  –  –  –

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 6,817  –  (225 ) 6,592  52  6,644  Profit before taxation

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Group (423 ) –  –  (423 ) –  (423 ) Taxation

Share of joint ventures (225 ) –  225  –  –  –

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 6,169  –  –  6,169  52  6,221  Profit for the year

Equity minority interests (3,590)

Retained profit  for the year 2,579

             Attributable to:

       2,579  52  2,631  Equity shareholders

       3,590  –  3,590  Minority interests

       6,169    6,221
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29. Reconciliation of group financial statements from UK GAAP to IFRS continued

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF IFRS INFORMATION

In preparing this reconciliation in accordance with IFRS 1, the Group has applied the mandatory exceptions and certain of 

the optional exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS elected by the Group.

The Group has made the following choices in respect of the optional exemptions from full retrospective application, as set 

out in IFRS 1.

(a) The Group has applied the business combinations exemption in IFRS 1. It has not restated business combinations that 

took place prior to the 1 January 2004.

(b) The Group has applied the cumulative translation differences exemption to all subsidiaries and joint ventures. The 

Group continues to classify translation reserves as a separate component of equity.

The following optional exemptions from full retrospective application have not been made as they are either not applicable 

or management have chosen not to apply the exemption:

(a) Fair value as deemed cost exemption

(b) Employee benefits exemption

(c) Compound financial instruments exemption

(d) Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures exemption

(e) Exemption from restatement of comparatives for IAS 32 and IAS 39

(f) Designation of financial assets and financial liabilities exemption

(g) Share-based payments exemption 

(h) Insurance contracts exemption

(i) Decommissioning liabilities included in the cost of property, plant and equipment exemption

(j) Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition

The Group has made the following choices in respect of the mandatory exceptions from retrospective application, as set 

out in IFRS:

(a) Estimates under IFRS at 1 January 2004 should be consistent with estimates made for the same data under previous 

GAAP unless there is evidence that those estimates were in error. 

(b) Assets held for sale and discontinued operations exception.

Management applied IFRS 5 prospectively from 1 January 2005. Any assets held for sale or discontinued operations are 

recognised in accordance with IFRS 5 only from 1 January 2005. The Group did not have any assets that met the held-

for-sale criteria during the period presented. No adjustment was required. 

The following mandatory exceptions to retrospective application have not been applied as they are not applicable to the 

Group:

(a) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities exception

(b) Hedge accounting exception

notes to the group financial statements



29. Reconciliation of group financial statements from UK GAAP to IFRS continued

EXPLANATION OF THE ADJUSTMENTS FROM UK GAAP TO IFRS 

• Interests in associates and joint venture entities are accounted for using the equity method under UK GAAP and 

IFRS. Under UK GAAP, the Group’s share of their operating profits, interest and taxation were included under those 

respective captions in the income statement. Under IFRS, the Group’s share of the profits of joint ventures and 

associates are disclosed in a single line within “Share of results of Joint Ventures”.

• Debtors due after one year, included within current assets under UK GAAP, are reclassified within “Non-current assets” 

under IFRS as “Other receivable” financial assets.

• Under UK GAAP, goodwill was amortised on a straight-line basis over its economic useful life of up to 20 years, tested 

for impairment and provided for as necessary. Under IFRS, goodwill is no longer amortised but is carried at cost and 

is subject to annual review. Amortisation charged in the periods to 30 June 2004 and 31 December 2004 has been 

written back as a result.

• Land use rights are reclassified as other intangible assets under IFRS.

notes to the group financial statements
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five year summary

 UK GAAP in IFRS format

Amount in £’000 2005  2004  2003  2002  2001

Revenue: group and share of joint ventures 143,057  118,088  98,950  80,885  86,494

Profit before taxation 5,404  6,644  4,723  5,164  2,120

Taxation (544 ) (423 ) (238 ) 46  (128 )

Profit for the year 4,860  6,221   4,485  5,210  1,992

Equity minority interests (2,068 ) (3,590 ) (3,200 ) (4,060 ) (4,440 )

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders 2,792  2,631  1,285  1,150  (2,448 )

Employment of Group Capital

Non-current assets 50,062  39,366  41,354  46,675  50,404

Other net current assets/(liabilities) 8,138  9,604  (13,964 ) 1,060  2,942

Non-current liabilities:

Borrowings (7,126 ) (6,021 ) (1,279 ) (18,109 ) (20,564 )

Deferred tax liabilities (336 ) (354 ) (456 ) (863 ) (969 )

Net assets 50,738  42,595  25,655  28,763  31,813

 Basic earnings/(loss) per share 0.16p  0.17p  0.09p  0.08p  (0.17)p

The results and balance sheet extracts for 2001, 2002 and 2003 are as extracted from the Group’s UK GAAP financial 

statements for the year to 31 December 2004. They are presented in IFRS format for the purposes of the Five Year 

Summary.
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We have audited the financial statements of Fortune Oil PLC on pages 83 to 88. These financial statements have 

been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. We have reported separately on the Group financial 

statements of Fortune Oil PLC for the year ended 31 December 2005.

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies 

Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we 

are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 

not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body, for 

our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial 

statements of the Company in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards are set out in 

the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements of the Company and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 

to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing  

(UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial 

statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance 

with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the 

financial statements, if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information 

and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other 

transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions  

of the 2003 FRC Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and  

we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks 

and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and 

control procedures. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 

statements. The other information comprises only the project portfolio, the company profile, the Chairman’s Statement, 

the Chief Executive’s Review, the Operating and Financial Review, the board of Directors, the Report of the Directors, 

the Corporate Governance statement and the part of the Remuneration Report that is described as being unaudited. We 

consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies 

with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

independent auditors’ report to the 
shareholders of Fortune Oil PLC
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independent auditors’ report to the 
shareholders of Fortune Oil PLC

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 

Practices board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment 

of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of 

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately 

disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary 

in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of 

the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 

irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 

financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2005 and the financial statements and the  

part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 

Act 1985.

RSM Robson Rhodes LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London, England

12 May 2006
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company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2005

Amount	in	£’000	 Note	 2005		 2004

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 2 2  1

Investments  3 55,993  55,786

   55,995  55,787

Current assets

Debtors: amount falling due within one year 4 53  47

Cash at bank and in hand  27  307

  80  354

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 5 (127 ) (175 )

Net current (liabilities)/assets  (47 ) 179

 Net assets  55,948  55,966

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 6 18,351  18,336

Investment in own shares 8 (760 ) (725 )

Share premium account 8 37,344  37,318

Merger relief reserves 8 19,048  19,048

Capital reduction account 8 3,327  3,327

Profit and loss account 8 (21,362 ) (21,338 )

 Equity shareholders’ equity 9 55,948  55,966

The financial statements were approved by the board on 12 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Li Ching Louisa Ho

Director Director

The notes on pages 84 to 88 form part of these financial statements
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notes to the company financial statements

1. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable UK 

accounting standards and law. As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account of 

the parent company has not been separately presented in the financial statements. A cash flow statement has not been 

presented as permitted by FRS 1 (revised) “Cash flow statements”.

Fixed asset investments

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost, less provision for any 

impairment.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Where there is evidence of impairment, fixed 

assets are written down to their recoverable amount. Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 

expected useful lives.

Share-based payments

The cost of providing share-based payments to employees is charged to the income statement over the vesting period of 

the related share options or share allocations. The cost is based on the fair value of the options or shares allocated and 

the number of awards expected to vest. The fair value of each option is determined using an appropriate pricing model at 

the date of granting. Market related performance conditions are reflected in the fair value of the share. Non-market related 

performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the number of awards expected to vest.

Investment in own shares

Company shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust are presented within reserves until such time 

as the interest in shares is transferred unconditionally to the employees. Costs of administering the Trust are charged to 

the profit and loss account as incurred.



notes to the company financial statements

2. Tangible fixed assets

 Company Fixtures
  and

Amount	in	£’000	 fittings

Cost

At 1 January 2005 24

Additions 2

 At 31 December 2005 26

Depreciation

At 1 January 2005 23

Provided for the year 1

 At 31 December 2005 24

Net book value

 At 31 December 2005 2

 At 31 December 2004 1

3. Fixed asset investments

 Company Loans to
  subsidiary

Amount	in	£’000	 undertakings

Cost

At 1 January 2005 67,274

Loan additions 425

Loan repayment (218 )

 At 31 December 2005 67,481

Amounts provided

 At 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005 11,488

Net book value

 At 31 December 2005 55,993

 At 31 December 2004 55,786

The loans to subsidiary undertakings reflect funding provided to Group companies in the PRC. The net amount recorded 

reflects the amounts invested in the main trading companies that are capable of being repaid from expected future  

cash flows.
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4. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Other debtors 18  16

Prepayments and accrued income 35  31

  53  47

5. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Other creditors 61  87

Accruals and deferred income 60  82

Creditors for taxation and social security 6  6

  127  175

6. Share capital

Amount	in	£’000	 2005		 2004

Authorised

2,400,000,000 ordinary shares of 1p each 24,000  24,000

Issued shares of 1p each fully paid

1,835,085,868 ordinary shares of 1p each 18,351  18,336

 (2004: 1,833,585,868 ordinary shares of 1p each) 

notes to the company financial statements
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7. Share-based payments

Analysis of share options as at 31 December 2005:

	 	 2005	 2004

	 	 		 Weighted 	 		 Weighted
	 	 		 average		 		 average

	 Options  exercise price		 Options		 	exercise	price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 14,750,000  2.75p  22,750,000  4.02p

Granted during the year 6,230,000  6.30p  –  –

Exercised during the year (1,500,000 ) 2.75p  (4,500,000 ) 2.75p

Lapsed during the year –  –  (3,500,000 ) 11.00p

 Outstanding at the end of the year 19,480,000  3.89p  14,750,000  2.75p

 Exercisable at the end of the year 13,250,000  2.75p  14,750,000   2.75p

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 6.26 pence. 

The options outstanding at the end of the year have an exercise price in a range from 2.75 pence up to 6.32 pence and  

a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.8 years.

All awards under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme and the China Scheme (with details on page 35) were issued prior to  

7 November 2002. No share options were issued by the Group between 7 November 2002 and 31 December 2004.  

On 8 June 2005, share options were granted to certain employees under the “2004 Approved Scheme” and “2004 

Unapproved Scheme” (as detailed in the Remuneration Report on pages 35 and 36). These have been valued using a 

trinomial valuation model with the following assumptions:

Fair value at grant date 3.39p

Share price at grant date 6.32p

Exercise price 6.32p

Expected volatility 46.357%

Option life 10 years

Expected dividend yield  nil

Risk-free interest rate  4.145%

As detailed in the Remuneration Report on pages 37 and 38, certain awards have been made during the year under the 

Long Term Incentive Plan. As the awards are satisfied by the transfer of shares for no consideration, the fair values of 

those awards are based on the latest available share price of the Company.

The Group recognised total expenses of £63,000 (2004: £Nil) relating to share-based payment transactions during  

the year.

notes to the company financial statements
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8. Reserves

	 	 Share		 Investment		 Merger		 Capital		 Profit
	 	 premium		 in	own		 relief		 reduction		 and	loss

Amount	in	£’000	 account		 shares		 reserves		 account		 account		 Total

Company

At 1 January 2005 37,318  (725 ) 19,048  3,327  (21,338 ) 37,630

Additions 26  (35 ) –  –  –  (9 )

Share-based payments –  –  –  –  63  63

Loss for the year –  –  –  –  (87 ) (87 )

 At 31 December 2005 37,344  (760 ) 19,048  3,327  (21,362 ) 37,597

Investment in own shares

The shares are held by JTC Trustees Limited as the trustee for future distribution to employees. Following the 

shareholder’s approval at the AGM on 25 June 2004, the 2004 Senior Executive Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is currently 

operated by the trustee of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust, subject to the rules of the Long Term Incentive Plan 

as amended in 2004 (“LTIP”). There is a specified Remuneration Committee Policy in relation to the operation of the 

Plan under the LTIP rules. Additional details are given in the Remuneration Report. At 31 December 2005 the investment 

represented 3.3 per cent (2004:3.3 per cent) of the called up ordinary share capital of Fortune Oil PLC. The total number 

of shares held in the name of JTC Trustees Limited is 60,000,000 (2004: 60,000,000). The market value of shares was 

£3,528,000 at 31 December 2005 (2004: £5,478,000).

The parent company recorded a loss for the year of £87,000 (2004: loss £1,086,000).

9. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

Amount	in	£’000	 2005 	 2004

Loss for the financial year (87 ) (1,086 )

Issue of share capital 41  14,884

Investment in own shares (35 ) (35 )

Share-based payments 63  –

Net (reduction in)/increase in shareholders’ funds (18 ) 13,763

Opening equity shareholders’ funds 55,966  42,203

 Closing equity shareholders’ funds 55,948  55,966

notes to the company financial statements
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�. Share price information

The current share price of Fortune Oil PLC is available on the interactive FT Cityline service on 0906 003 0000. At the menu following the 

FTSE 100 index, select option 2 for share prices and enter the four digit code 5296. Calls are charged at 60p per minute at all times.

2.  Unsolicited mail

Fortune Oil PLC is obliged by law to make its share register available on request to other organisations who may then use it as a mailing 

list. This may result in you receiving unsolicited mail. If you wish to limit the receipt of unsolicited mail, you may do so by writing to the 

Mailing Preference Service, an independent organisation whose services are free to you.

If you would like more details, please write to:

Mailing Preference Service

FREEPOST 29 LON20771

London W1E 0ZT

or visit the Mailing Preference Service website at www.mpsonline.org.uk
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Fo
rtu

n
e O

il PLC
     an

n
u

al rep
o

rt 2005




